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The Board of Directors’ Report
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wosuiinegil 467.74 S Aunindanaiuiunn 827.86 Suumamlag
1l 2561 wogil $85.84 S ioannimsandainiesinglm madumilau
wilaulavwanaanogi 807.19 A dawalididudiuszosduanaann
772.78 Sruwmmnodf 582.30 Suum dosnindmsmuguludnduiaands
damaldimaldidunuanas odelsiamiaulimpudouiuiunogii 224.89
Suvm dndngnnniudssssondviniosing luduvosddeduanaan
gl 913.37 dwm s lsazauialildiaassfaavegi -10.53 dum
idosnnmananuluilil dvsusandumamsiu Gupumudoudsilod
Fadanwadesagii 1.42 Sandumilaudeduvoamuinegi 0.88 yau
naifyFanasegi 9.1 vmeoru eannvnanuluili

gl 2563 # wnldumsdidugsiolueinaadsiiledeidanuime
dnntunnanmsrssgialan lihnnsanssmunnlassnavedhialaia9
mwdaidoveamanunai 1isna Téfmuafismanazurunagninsaiiu
aulaeandeaiefnuanumusalumnsiunazanniaiuiadons
wasumlasluewna adumaidulamasssdumagsialussozsn Taswing e
wiumaesamahnlszme duiuiteannnudssnnanuhiniveuvonma
Tan madSunldsudadiumanesiiaduiiodiulsnamssuiiumsia uas
msmuuiiiedaiing fedoduuunljifulasaaon mafulsmasiiy
UssAndamvedlanunda nstloafuniuidssnnanuiumuvesdniuan
wasumasnaiagiy maannranduaiyamigedsnmsitouasuianaay Tns
Wannwdugndodudeiiion maldflssleminnduningifeg swdamam
Wusinsmagsie iovosamanastindeaniemssheaudiesesiums
wolaluewaa vitma Jaldyafumsimuiyaainsididuglsssuuasd
UszanSnm Tasafvayuliwinaugnszavluesdnsldldanuianumusoedi
FuiidTomania Wemudamummsadunmsuiduvesgsisluonanld
UIEMA rgl"/qiJ"'uafjuuﬁluﬁm*uamé’nﬁﬁimﬁmaﬁéfmﬁm'miﬂi’ﬂﬁuaminﬂaﬁlﬁ
Tanuddgdiidnldidelungnamadivedmiifionuazfusssy

AMzNTIINIUTENY assmiindiudeadsanudBaaivansveaisng du
musousgralédisanuiiovesdifvitomnihelasmmsaasfidmanas
gy wilnanwonding fldjumliidnuedudunnuaniomsniouas
hmesdnsllgdhmneiianiuaue ansnssums 1 veveunaiiiduldide
yafheiildlinnulindaunslimasmivayunadiiunuuasAamavoawiima
Frudimiom 13N aswenTzmindeidoimd Wusie unsjaiuuimsan
eniiasesssy ila wasiinmmiuiavoumeldnsoumsmifuguanamsia
ioralssTonigagavosdfdnufvdemnihoedudaiu

2019 was a year of many changes for global economies and international
trades are in the recession and are under pressure. Especially the second
half of the year, in particular, was rather volatile politically and economically,
Whether the US China trade war had worldwide implications, conflicts in
the Middle East caused a global economic slowdown also led to stiff price
competition. Economic uncertainty, product pricing, and global tension had
an impact on the company’s performance in 2019.

For the whole year of 2019, the company reported a huge loss of
148.86 million baht. Such loss was mainly from low volume of sales on
high margin products as well as a high competition which consequently
forcing the selling price down otherwise losing market share. Revenue
from sales at 1,569.2 million baht decreased 12.65% from previous year
(2018) mainly due to the decrease in metal price from 2,070 USD per ton
in 2018 to an average of 1,797 USD per ton in 2019. Tonnage shipment
in year 2019 increased by 219 metric tons to 15,748 metric tons. Cost of
goods sold as a percentage of sales was at 104.43% which was higher than
sales due to the reason mention earlier. Selling & administrative expenses
increased to 96.17 million baht due to marketing expenses mainly for
oversea business. Interest expenses at 18.9 million baht slight lower than
that of last year. Therefore, we have operating loss of 184.6 million baht.
After including other revenues of 4.07 million baht and exchange gain of
30.61 million baht, the company have net loss before tax of 149.88 million
baht and after tax of 148.86 million baht.

As at the end of year 2019, total assets decreased 165.84 million baht
from end of last year. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
current assets especially in inventories which down by 215.12 million baht
and recorded at 467.74 million baht. Fixed assets, on the other hand,
increased from 827.86 million baht as at the end of 2018 to 885.84 million
baht as at the end of 2019 due to the new machines installation. On
liabilities, total debts slightly decreased to 807.19 million baht. In details,
our short term financing was down from 772.78 million baht to 582.30
million baht due to tightening control on inventories and thus requires less
working capital. However, the non-current liabilities increased to 224.89
million baht and mostly from long term financing on new machineries. On
shareholder’s equity, it decreased to 913.37 million baht and retained
earning was in a minus number of -10.53 million baht due to the huge
loss in this year. For financial status, the liquidity was tightening with
current ratio up to 1.42. Debt to equity ratio increased to 0.88. Book value
further decline to 9.1 baht per share due to this year loss.

Looking into the year 2020, the future still holds many additional
challenges, including the effects of the outbreak of Virus COVID-19, the
continuation of the trade war, the company hopes to maintain the company’s
competitiveness and allow it to cope with future changes while fostering
growth and business sustainability in the long run., The company has
shifted its focus to expanding the domestic markets to minimize the undesirable
effects of global market volatility, adjusting our product portfolio in order
to improve our performance and budget control on all expenses, the last
of which the company has always used, the enhancement of manufacturing
plants, implement measures to protect the company from foreign exchange
and raw material price volatility risk, researching and developing high
value-added products with its customers, make optimal use of existing
assets, and seek new business allies to expand its market and added a
new distribution channel. Moreover, to ensure organizational excellence
and support future growth, the company has prioritized tangible and effective
people development. To this end, the company has encouraged every
employee at every corporate echelon to put their maximum potential to
good use. All of this will contribute to its future competitive edge. The
company has been committed to ethical governance. Its operation has
always been transparent and accountable. The company has treated all
stakeholders equitably and fairly.

The Board of Directors is well aware that behind the success at the
company is every party involved, especially the senior management team
and employees of the company, who have dedicated themselves to their
work. These individuals have contributed much to the company and have
always been prepared to take the company to the next goal. The Board of
Directors would like to express its sincerest gratitude to every stakeholder
for the trust and support shown. The company will always strive to realize
its vision and mission. It will always operate ethically, transparently, and
accountably within the framework of good corporate governance in the
best interest of everyone involved in a sustainable manner.
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The audit committee comprising of 3 independent
directors who hold the meeting with the external auditor
and the team of management 3 times and meeting with-
out management 1 time total 4 times thus forming a
quorum every time. The audit committee hold the meeting
with the important agendas to review and analysis result

of audit form the external audit’s report detail as follows.

1. The financial report were correct and complete
according to new account system.

2. Estimation and analysis the risk from the
unstable economy situation which is change all the time.

3. To follow the law and rule of practice the Stock

Exchange of Thailand and the securities were
correct and complete.

4. There were no conflict of interest.

5. As the whole the audit committee had follow
the rules and regulations and code of best practice which
were normal practice for year 2019. There were no

specific items which shareholder should be informed.

The audit committee agreed and approved to
propose to member of the board director of Varopakorn
Public Company Limited to propose to shareholder year
2020 to appoint EY Office Limited to be our external

auditor for year 2020 in continuation from year 2019.

Z
% OWAL tp_,/"
Mrs Songsiri Soontornwipat

Chairman of the Audit Committee



doyanoluvoousun

GENERAL PROFILE

no
U3
NAME
d1inay

OFFICE

T390
FACTORY

Usziamgsio

TYPE OF BUSINESS

a P
neau@mIn

Registration number

Y

Y S
GRIGT

AUDITORS

a
RN

SHARE REGISTRARS

G
INCORPORATE

wndenuamanaansig
SET LISTING

nuaanzilian
REGISTERED CAPITAL

° v Y d'd ) vy
AMIUHNUYNIYATIIEURD
No. of Paid-up Shares

=) o Y
NUBENYITSLA
Paid-up Share Capital

v3th Nsilnsel $1ia aenaw)
Varopakorn Public Company Limited

181 0805 AUUHIAUD FoIUUNT B1UHIN NTIMNA 10120 Tnsfwi 02-2132514 Tnsens 02-287 2031
181 Soi Amorn, Nanglinchee Road, Chongnonsri, Yannawa, Bangkok 10120. Tel. 02-213 2514 Fax. 02-287 2031

Home page : varopakorn.com E-mail : admin@varo.thai.com

280 vy 4 ouugynin nat. 41.5 uanaflval suneriios Saviaanmsrsims 10280 Tnssi 02-323 1684 Tnsas 02-323 9635
280Moo 4, Sukumvit Road Km.41.5, Tumbol Bangpoo-Mai, Amphur Muang, Samuthprakarn Province. Tel. 02-323 1684 Fax. 02-323 9635
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WAIFIUISO 9001:2015,1SO 14001 2015 ﬂmuuummitmnJuwwaﬂ'cmmﬂaumﬂuﬁ"lm‘un15ﬂﬂmummaﬂmamamnmn aﬂm
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v A av

Timuﬂg‘luﬂumﬂ‘lm maaﬂugwnmwamsmaan (Export zone) uazgnmmaﬂszmaiﬂﬂma NU Ui‘ﬂmﬁfﬂﬂm@ﬂﬁmﬁu’lﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂ
Taewiinauang vesu3 s g ummummmmﬂ Taeu3imaitiu3 slng) uSindes V3Emsm aunlszmanaznssums n.a.a. w3e
SovhluiiAyanasudzonas 10

The Company is principally engaged aluminium manufacturing by manufacture and distribution of semi-finished sheets & coils for sale
to other manufacturers who could reproduce them further or use them as components for other products. The company is certified under
1SO 9001 :2015,ISO 14001 : 2015. Currently, the company is a well-known manufacturer of aluminum products. Most of all customers
are operators in the final production lines in different types of factories, both domestic and foreign are located in Thailand, which is the
manufacturer in export zone including oversea customers. The Company has major distribution channels by our sales staff and through
its distributors. The Company does not have a parent company, subsidiary company, affiliated company, subsidiary under the notification
of the SEC or holds a share of 10% or more in a juristic person.

0107537000238 (U9, 270)
0107537000238 (Bor Mor Jor. 270)
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Fufl 33 e1msianvm AeawAN 193/136-137 aunSyaAiun naeuns N3NNI 10110 T05.02-264 9090 Tn5a13 02-264 0790

EY Office Limited (Formerly known as Ernst & Young Office Limited)

33" Floor, Lake Rajada Office Complex, 193/136-137 Rajadapisek Road, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110. Tel. 02-264 9090 Fax. 02-264 0790

U3 guesurhnndnnsne Wszmeallng) $1ia

93 msAaIavanNSnduvaszmalng 0.55mAwn Auuas n3amwa 10400 T0s.02-0099000 Tnsans. 02-009 9991

SET Contact center: 0 2009-9999 Website: http://www.set.or.th/tsd E-mail: SETContactCenter@set.or.th

Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.

93 The Stock Exchange of Thailand Building, Rachadapisek Road, Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400 Tel. 02-009 9000 Fax. 02-009 9991
SET Contact center: 0 2009-9999 Website: http://www.set.or.th/tsd E-mail: SETContactCenter@set.or.th

21 QUATUS 2522
February 21, 1979

29 NINGHIAN 2534
July 29, 1991

500 UM yamHuaz 5 UM
500 Million Baht, par value 5 Baht each

99,902,123 #u
99,902,123 Shares

499,510,615 111
499,510,615 Baht
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COMPANY’S FINANCIAL CONCLUSION

doyanoumsidu / Financial Information

(dag : Wuum)

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

2562/2019 2561/2018 2560/2017
s1gldnnsue / Sales 1,569,203.92 1,796,470.16 1,562,625.67
51818571 / Total revenues 1,603,929.53 1,845,121.87 1,579,400.07
ﬁuuuma / Cost of sales 1,638,692.98 1,711,867.34 1,463,451.37
AlFielunisueuasuims / Selling and administrative expenses 96,176.64 84,801.15 72,040.22
M lFa16m191198U / Finance cost (18,942.90)  (20,818.59)  (13,045.74)
ls nemu) Mndasuannlasu / Gain (Loss) on exchange 30,618.40 - 9,545.83
s (anu) mné'fnumunuamﬂﬁlﬂuﬂmﬁuﬁﬂnﬂﬁmﬁ / Gain (Loss) on commodity swap agreement - 44,437.39 (26,797.27)
710l (A1) MEiRU1A / Tax Incomes (expenses) 1,014.98 40.75 7,625.55
mls (nanu) qns / Net Profit (148,868.02)  27,592.97  11,691.02
ﬁﬂiqm%ﬁiﬂﬁ:u (mm/ﬁ:u) / Earning per share (Baht/share) (1.49) 0.28 0.12
suourfuiiilumsdnnailsgnideriu / Number of share used to calculate net profit per share 99,902,123 99,902,123.00 99,902,123.00
anduiluma (LML) / Dividend (Baht/Share) - 0.17 0.20
dnsrdoumomsiSuidAty / Financial Ratio

2562/2019 2561/2018 2560/2017
dandean maaed (Liquidity Ratio)
dandIuENIWAdd i 1.42 1.35 1.29
dandiuanwaderiyuis) o 0.54 0.39 0.41
FandIUENINAARINTZUTRUAR i 0.16 0.08 -0.07
Sandumyuidsugnwiinis N 5.15 5.88 5.08
szgznaAUNImaY M 70 61 71
Sandumuidoududimas o 18.71 19.34 24.75
szEEnAITEURINAY o] 19.24 18.61 14.55
Fandmyudoudwil o 25.79 19.67 20.37
EETETOLRE AR U 13.96 18.31 17.68
Cash Cycle o] 75.18 61.49 67.73
Sanduuaasanuainsalumiimls (Profitablility Ratio)

Sanlvudu % -4.43% 4.71% 6.35%
dandumlsnnmsauiivau % -10.56% -0.01% 0.02%
Sanilsou % 0.25% 0.21% 0.37%
dandulduaademainmls % -81.57% 126.48% -265.43%
danligns % -9.28% 1.50% 0.74%
anTINanUUNUKT oYU % -14.96% 2.57% 1.09%
snnaunaasdszansmwlunisaiiuau (Efficiency Ratio)

oANdIUNAABUUNUNINAUNTHE % -8.25% 1.46% 0.65%
9ANAIUNARBUUNUNINAUNTNED1IT % -6.00% 15.00% 12.81%
3N UVDIFUNTNG o 0.89 0.98 0.88
damdAmziulsu1enan13i3u (Financial Policy Ratio)

Sanduniiaudedivesdidedu i 0.88 0.75 0.77
Sanduanumusasszasnie i 4.27 6.28 -4.13
FANAIUANUNNITOTITSAT AL i 0.62 0.70 -0.68
dandiumsseluiluwa % -11.40% 72.34% 102.46%
EBITDA % -1.67% 8.18% 7.67%
yasfunatiyd (1m) / Book Value (Baht) M 9.14 10.78 10.71

swwouUs:9 U 2562



swldsou / Total Revenues

/

Aunswdsou / Total Assets

2,250.00
L 1,845.12 250000
1,579.40 1,603.93
= 1,750.00 1,509.00 1,467.01 ' Z 5 000.00 | 1,891.50 1,886.42
3  2,000. L 618.45 1708:06 1,720.58
£ 1,250.00 E
= £ 1,500.00 -
< 750.00 z
E £ 1,000.00
= =
2 250.00 2
© 50000 -
-250.00 —
2558/2015 2559/2016 2560/2017 2561/2018  2562/2019 - T T T - T T
2558/2015  2559/2016 2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019
niidusou / Total Liabiliti
gonv® / Sales usou / To s
_ 1,250.00 —
2,000.00 - 1,796.47
_ 1,493.65 1463.13 1,562.63 1,509.20 - 100000 4+
< - 821.92 809.23 807.20
& 1,500.00 &
g £ 750.00 seg.23 0319
§ 1,000.00 E
> S 500.00
a a
2 500.00 3
K~ »s 250.00
2558/2015 2559/2016 2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019 2558/2015  2559/2016  2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019
rilsdudu / Gross Profit dougifiofu / Shareholder’s Equity
3 15000 10454 99.17 E 1,500.00
Elio0co o e 1,050.25 1,069.87 1,069.58 1,077.19
g 50.00 ' g 1,000.00
~ ~
E. £
Z 50,00 / ._ S 50000
W—mo 00 69.49 e
2558/2015  2559/2016 2560/2017  2561/2018 2562/2019
2558/2015  2559/2016  2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019
s (v10nu) gns / Net Profit (Loss) yaA1junoUtyB / Book Value
= 60.00 / 27.59
3 4000 ?
= 20.00 z
S 2000 |~ = 1000
~ -40.00 -27.49 =
£ -60.00 :?’/ 2
5 -80.00 {7 5.00
’< -100.00 /
-120.00 /
-140.00 i
-160.00 ! ' ' ! ! '

2558/2015  2559/2016  2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019

2558/2015  2559/2016  2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019

uSun olsunsnd 9100 (uwsL)
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POLICY AND OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS

vita Gunlsznougsiadiet] we. 2522 lagldaansiboui
HumiTuearitng dhdonslunmandnnindualssmelng daud
Fuit 16 figuisu 2534 wazsanzdoulsanwiiussinumsuiiga
detuil 26 wnnaw 2537 lushalawil 2538 TdTusEmlundy Mit-
subishi c’fﬁﬂisﬂaué’w Mitsubishi Aluminum Co., Ltd. (MAC) AU
Mitsubishi Corporation (MC) mﬂﬂismﬁﬂjﬂu uaz Thai-MC Co.,Ltd.
(Thai-MC)l&ghsammunuuisna Tasshderusiniuaaiiu 20 % veq
manzdou TasdeRunnuii Tanmslne $1a waznguidoru
nelvgruamandnning il wiEniTagUssmdesvnemons
HaaeHARHAAN uaflna (Precoated finstock) Favzdesldimalulad
furmlumanda dandu Mitsubishi Fuusimiindoosimaluladuns
nsswitmskdaiidufisenivluszdumna Tusralanedl 2544 uas
2545 Thai-MC uaz MC l&levwsfusiavualiiud MC Non-Ferrous
Metal Products Co.Ltd. dafluusiilundu Mitsubishi hill 2551 MC
Igndudhdeduludinil uasdeu1dTouduiainual¥un Mitsubishi
Corporation Unimetals Ltd. luil 2556 ﬁ:uﬁgwm"lﬂ”gniaﬁlﬁuﬁ
Mitsubishi Corporation Rtm Japan Ltd. Gﬁuﬂuﬁﬁﬂumju Mitsubishi
BURg IR

Tuideutunan 2549 usima Ididygriuaushumie
mamaiin unsdyanudadadiasmhedy MAC uasndu Mitsubishi
Tagiiunswaauruogiidlen ssine anufou Gaflundasaailmil
gaaamnisusngud demnludousunay 2559 vitnaldanasvey
szeznawesiyynn 2 ot dandneenlifuszuznm 3 Weuiiy
Faniuil 26 Funan 2559 vieaunhidyanauluesiinatify
Tudud Tulaasfadou GudloTuil 27 wnnan 2560 U3l
Fyasumutemdomamaiin asdayaudac Raasmhentiulvi
Wuszoznan 51

Wil wih MAC Fafuddevulvajueaism wlsznougana
Uszianidernuuian eravesldrezneldiianudandania
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Varopakorn Publice Company Limited commenced its
operation in aluminium business in 1979. The Company imported
aluminium ingots and transformed them into various types of
aluminium products and raw materials to be supplied to other
producers for further reproduction into various goods or as
components of other goods. The company's ordinary shares were
registered for purchase of sale at the Stock Exchange of Thailand
(S.E.T.) on 16 June 1991. The Company registered its conversion
into Public Company Limited on 26 January 1994. Forwards the
end of 1995 companies within the Mitsubishi Group consisting of
Mitsubishi Aluminium Co., Ltd. (MAC) and Mitsubishi Corporation
MC) from Japan and Thai-MC Co., Ltd. joined in investment in the
Company, taking a total of 20% of the registered shares by purchasing
shares from Thai Metal Work Co., Ltd. and a major shareholding
group through the S.E.T. By such deal, the Company wished to
expand a production line in the new precoated finstock product
which required special technology in its productions. The Mitsubishi
Group is internationally renowned for this technology and the technical
know-how involved. At the end of 2001 and 2002 Thai-MC Co.,
Ltd., and MC transferred all the shares to MC Non-Ferrous Metal
Products Co., Ltd., a company in the Mitsubishi Group. In 2008 MC
received all these shares back, but now MC transferred all the shares
to Mitsubishi Corporation Unimetals Ltd., a company in the
Mitsubishi Group.

In December 2006, the Company entered into a technical
assistance agreement and a distribution agreement with MAC and
Mitsubishi Group to concentrate on the production of aluminium
finstock for heat exchanger which meant new products for the
automotive industry. Subsequently, in December 2016, the Company
has agreed to extend the term of these two agreements for a period of
3 months after December 26, 2016 or until the date of both new
agreement is entered into and becomes effective, whichever is the
earlier. On January 27, 2017, the Company entered into the both of
new agreements for a period of 5 years.

In this connection, even though MAC, considered as a
Company's major shareholder, also operates in the same category as
the Company's business, such may be regarded as holding a conflict
of interest. However, both MAC and the Company contain different
target of customers and different sales organisation. Further more, in
the past, the Company and MAC have never had any conflict of
interest.

The Company has a policy of conducting business with social
responsibility anti-corruption. The principles of business are
transparency, practices, ethics, accountability, respect for human
rights and interests of stakeholders under the policy quality standards,
fast service, environment responsive, energy conservation. The goal
of the business of the company is to become one of the leading
manufacturers of aluminum sheets and coils.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Company's core business is the aluminum manufacturing
by manufactures and distribution of semi-finished aluminum sheets
and coils for sale to other manufacturers for further reproduction into
various goods or as components of other goods. The Company is
certified under ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015. The Company has
no other aftiliate companies nor any subsidiaries.
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products are :
1. SHEET PRODUCT Consists of
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2.

are made-to-order by customers' requirement for
alloys, thickness and width. They are used as raw
material for producing products such as ceiling
boards, partition boards, electrical panel, PP cap,
food cabinets, heat shield for automobile, composite
panel for building, etc.

B 4 x 8 feet Aluminium sheets : The sheets are
standard products for general-purpose applications
for various-thickness.

ROLLED PRODUCT Consists of

B Aluminium Finstocks They are used for
producing screens for heat ventilation in air-
conditionings for household, office and automotive,
refrigerators etc.

B Aluminium Precoated Finstocks : They are also
used for producing screens for heat ventilation. The
aluminium finstocks are pre-coated by some
chemicals to make better features in preventing
formation of water drop and creating more heat
ventilation, energy-saving and last-long product life.

8 Aluminium Finstocks for Automotive : They are
special grade aluminium for producing radiator
and other heat exchange in automotive, called
condenser.

® Aluminium Foils : They are thin aluminium which
are 0.007 to 0.10 mm. thickness. They are mainly
used as raw material in packing industry.

B Aluminium Coils : They are various alloy, thickness
and width rolled coils that are made- to-order by the
customers' requirement. The customers can use the
coils by cutting them into sheets, strips, rods by
themselves or producing them to other kinds of
aluminum products or using the ready-made coils
for their production.

lrsoasi0oswld /7 Income Structure

1l 2562 / Y2019 1l 2561 / Y2018 il 2560 / Y2017

wansiwai (Products) 519 1¢/Revenues % 518 1¢/Revenues % 518 1d/Revenues %
Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht
aQiitiaNuHY (Sheet Product) 142.85 9.10 116.23 6.47 145.61 9.32
agﬁtﬁﬂuﬁau (Rolled Product) 1,426.35 90.90 1,680.24 93.53 1,417.02 90.68
s1e1danmsane (Total Sales) 1,569.20 | 100.00 1,796.47 100.00 1,562.63 | 100.00
i”lﬂulﬁﬁlu 91 (Other Income) - 48.65 16.77
535191é (Total Revenues) 1,569.20 1,845.12 1,579.40
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In 2019, it was a year that the Company had a lot of marketing
challenges. Due to external and global economic and political factors between
the United States and China and many other countries known as the “trade
war”, including the continued appreciation of the baht. The above factors cause
the Company affected by the price of goods sold. Because competitors have
stocked a lot of products and spilled into the Asian market and Thailand as
well as coming to set up many new Aluminum factories in Thailand from
China. Resulting in more competitors in the market causing the domestic
market to have more intense price competition causing the Company losing
more than 50% of customers in the Thailand market compared to last year.
For Japanese customers, who originally had 100% orders with the Company
in some items have developed and divided the purchase proportion to more
competitors. Causing the proportion of sales in this group to be reduced sig-
nificantly including the main export market such as India, although the export
volume is increasing but the price is lower than the probability. Overall, in
2019, sales volume increased by only 1.41% compared to 2018 due to the
oversea customers base increased in the market for Precoated Aluminum
Finstock and Aluminum Foil products.

In 2020, the Company has an action plan that will continue to drive
the Company’s growth and still encountering economic challenges and the
trade of the world market including the effects of the outbreak of Virus Covid-19,
which has been plagued since the end of the year 2019 by the epidemic
center from China. At present, the epidemic has spread to all over the world
especially Italy, Spain, France and America that are considered to have a very
severe epidemic including Thailand. As a result of the outbhreak of Virus
Covid-19, many countries have issued measures to prevent the spread of the
virus by using decisive measures to close the country, shut down the city, lock
down in many sectors, stop work or activities that will poses a risk of spread-
ing the disease. This situation has a severe economic impact on all sectors.
including the impact on the Company’s sales that cannot increase sell products.
As the customer was affected and the production plan was reduced, delivery
is difficult because some customers have announced downtime and the over-
sea customers who have been affected by the announcement of the country
closing, resulting in the inability to deliver products.

However, the Company still aiming to stand as the leading manufac-
turer of cold rolled aluminum in Thailand and becoming a leading company
in the ASEAN region with this growth goal, the Company plans to do in-depth
marketing with in-depth sales and marketing for each product category result-
ing in production expertise and product quality advantages especially products
in the aluminum group for the manufacture of bottle caps will help and drive
the Company’s business to grow as the target. At the same time, the Company
still looking at the opportunity to be able to export to other markets with high
growth such as America, Australia and Europe, started to explore the market
in such countries, such as attending the exhibition AHREXP02020 in Orlando,
USA in the beginning of the year 2020, which is a trade show for refrigeration.
The Company looks at the marketing target both the Precoated Aluminum
Finstock and Aluminum Finstock market as well as exploring for new oppor-
tunities for other products also.

The final strategy is to focus on development, skill of employees to
be proficient in production and services that are consistently satisfied by
customers including adjusting marketing strategies Promotion Media and co-
operation with all sectors of the industry both in the public and private sectors
in order to improve, research and develop the quality of the production of new
innovations in order to be able to compete with both domestic and oversea

competitors.

The model project for high-performance industrial furnace in
aluminium industry is a joint project between the Department of Industrial
Works (DIW) of the Ministry of Industry and the New Energy and Industrial
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Technology Development Organization of Japan (NEDO) for promoting the efficient
use of energy and the protection of natural environment. This project has
introduced a high performance industrial furnace that can recycle heat loss
and has widely disseminated the applied technology through demonstration
of the furnaces. The company has joined the project in the middle of 2007 and
our factory has been selected as the project’s location, the projects carried out
well. After the project installation was completed in September 2009, the
opening ceremony, the seminar for publicizing the technology, monitoring the
project, including register the machines in the project as well as the visiting of the
project site for disseminate and Knowledge management were held respectively. The
project has been resulted in the decrease in energy usage and emission of carbon
dioxide by 30% as targeted. Such achieved reduction has lessened the local
emission of green-house effect and the global warming. At present, the com-
pany is also used the furnace as the main machinery which contribute to the
production of more quantity and quality

For the project of promotion of equipment and supplies for energy saving
with Department of Alternative Energy Development and Efficiency (DEDE), for reduction
of energy usage, environmental protection that the company has joined the
project in the project sequentially since 2013 onwards whether the project for
change the burner into a Regenerative burner that can recovery heat energy loss
(omit) was recycled. The company still uses the furnace in the project as the main
machine which contribute to the production of more quantity and quality, including
the project for LED replacement and VSD installation of air compressor and the
project for replacing air conditioner and the chiller of the machine to high
efficiency including the project to adjust, improve or use automatic control
systems to increase efficiency in the compressed air system. This project had
been completed in June 2019 by receiving the project subsidize amount of
20% of the investment but not over the specified medium price. It’s can used,
saving energy consumption, reduce environmental impact well and have a
payback period according to the target,

The Company has received promotional privileges from the Board of
Investment under the Investment Promotion Act 2520 pursunt to the Promotion
certificate N0.61-0139-1-00-1-0 dated February 6, 2018. Activities 2.15 rolling,
drawing, casting or forging of non-ferrous metals for the manufacture of
aluminum sheet and aluminum coil. Production capacity of approximately
16,000 tons per year. Privileges will be granted (since January 3, 2018, the
date of the Board approves the promotion) as follow :-

e Exemption of import duty on machinery approved by the Board.

e Exemption of corporate income tax on from such promoted
operations, totaling not exceeding 100% of the investments (258 milliom Baht).
Excluding cost of land and working capital for a period of three years from
the start of revenue of the promotion.

¢ Exemption from dividends from promoted businesses which are
exempted from corporate income tax for the purpose of income tax exemption
for the period during which the promoted person is exempt from corporate income tax.

e Exemption of import duty on raw and essential materials
imported from abroad for use in the production for export for a period of one
year from the date of first import.

The company has not informed of commenced operation.
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Risk from Free Trade Agreements (FTA) that could affect sales
and production costs

The government has now adjusted the import tax (MFN RATE).
This adjustment resulted in the company’s import tax to be reduced
to 5% since 1st January 2005 some parts to be reduced to 0% since
23" May 2016. The import tax for these countries under AFTA was
reduced to 0% since 2010 for those under FTA who have bilateral
treaties with other countries such as Bahrain, Australia, New Zealand,
India, China, ASEAN-China, Japan, etc., most of which produce the
raw materials and the same type of aluminium products as our
company. As for ASEAN- India, ASEAN- Korea it should also be reduced
in the same way. Such a reduction of import tax is likely to increase
its imports and increased competition from abroad, including the
Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC) project, which causes big foreign
investors to invest in the EEC area, affect to the company’s malrket
share, revenue and profit significantly. However, the company has tried
its best to provide information on the repercussion which may occur.
The company is fully prepared to meet such a situation by increasing
our investment to improve the efficiency of machineries and to develop
the production technique. The company’s aim is to increase both
production and quality, including the control of production expenses,
the improvement of marketing and the development of new products
at all times. It is expected that these efforts should help reducing the
effects of such a situation.

Risks of reliance on major or a few distributors

In 2019, the company’s sale through its distributor, MALC Thai
Co., Ltd. (MALC) amounted to Baht 690.73 million (44.02% of the
total sales). On 27" January 2017, the company entered into the
Distribution agreement for 5 years, appointing MALC Thai Co., Ltd.
and Thai MC Co., Ltd. is distributor and sub-distributor. MALC and
Thai MC was appointed as representation of the Mitsubishi Group.
Owing to good relationships between the groups of shareholders and
the fact that our products have been so developed as to be well accepted
by customers of this particular distributor, it is therefore unlikely that
this distributor would revoke or discontinue the contract with our
company.

Risks related to raw material costs and production.

Aluminium is the main raw material for our production and
needed to be imported since there is no producer in Thailand. Presently,
the company has purchased aluminium from both producers and
traders. In year 2019, the market for aluminium is indicatively volatile
in both quantity and price since there is increase in demand from
key economic countries in the world.

Moreover, in the world financial market, they have used
aluminium as an underlying asset for financial instrument. Therefore,
there will be more volatility in quantity and price as well. In conclusion,
the market for aluminium is not totally based on real demand and
supply mechanism.

Regarding the above mentioned risk factors, the company has
diversified such risks by implementing the efficient purchasing
policy for aluminium. The company has established business relationship
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with suppliers who supply aluminium t from several reliable raw
material sources in many regions and offer flexible conditions of sales
contracts in both short-term and long-term basis. In addition, the
company has been supporting from both local and international
financial institutions which have provided financial instruments for
aluminium price hedging; such as short-term commodity swaps agreement
(Commodity Swap) with banks, which can held the company has
managed the cost not to fluctuate so much, forecast the cost in advance
and income planning.

However, that contracts can’t guarantee that, the Company can
handle at a price lower than the market price which can’t be
predicted accurately, and the company is not purpose to making a
profit from Ingot’s price fluctuations. In the year 2019, the company
not have commodity swap contracts.

Financial risk

The company has foreign exchange risk incurred from payment
for main raw material in foreign currency while receipt from sales
in Thai Baht. The company has managed such risk by entering into
Forward contracts with several financial institutions. Generally, the
forward contracts mature within one year. In the year 2019, the
Company gain on foreign exchange of 30.62 million baht.

For the interest rate risk, the financial institutions have also
provided us the sufficient credit facilities at competitively reasonable
interest rate for supporting imported raw materials and investment
in the business.

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to
its cash at banks, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial
institutions, accounts payable - trust receipts, long-term loans, and
liabilities under finance lease agreements. The Company manages
interest rate risk in an appropriate and consistent with spending such
as, use a long-term loan for an investment that will generate returns
in the long term or use the overdraft or use short-term loans for
working capital.

Credit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to
trade accounts receivable. The Company manages the risk by adopting
appropriate credit control policies and procedures and therefore does
not expect to incur material financial losses. The maximum exposure
to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of receivables as
stated in the statement of financial position.

The risk of the company’s major shareholders more than 25 percent.

As at March 23, 2019 Thai Metal Work Company Limited, an
investment company (Holding Company) 100% owned by the Chaixanien’s
family, holder the shares of the Company of 41,848,338 shares,
representing 41.89 percent of the shares sold by the Company. So
the family can control almost all of the vote of Shareholders meeting.
Whether the director’s appointment, the resolution of issues that
require a majority vote of the shareholders, except requirements to
get a 3 in 4 of the meeting of shareholders in accordance with the
Company’s regulations and law. So the other shareholders may be
difficult to sufficient votes for check and balance the shareholder
proposal. However, in the part the Company operates with transparency,
fairness, receive feedback and recommendation of the minority. It

never caused any problems with the company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ STRUCTURE AND MANAGEMENT
Insoashoidunu / Capital Structure
D) é’ﬁaﬁui‘lﬂﬁiﬂ o Yuil 23 Tunaw 2563 / List of major shareholders as at March 23, 2020

¥o/ngu foeu Ay Sunufuiive dadrunsney
Name/Group of Shareholder Nationality Number of share % (Percentage)
1. 138 Tanmslne 919" Tne 41,848,338 41.89
2. nguiayD% (Mitsubishi Group) Usenaudiy ANAN 20,072,397 20.09
- MITSUBISHI ALUMINUM CO., LTD.? §ovfu 13,381,476 vju A 13.39%
- Mitsubishi Corporation RtM Japan Ltd.? §effu 6,690,921 ¥fu Aallu 6.69%
3. nguunadstid Augnay ® Tne 7,354,769 7.36
4. ngunedndi o Yanl* ng 4,241,318 4.25
5. nquuatian Faud’ Tne 3,971,675 3.98
6. NYNUNFAINTTY Fomilou® ny 2,686,741 2.69
7. Wiy Myliunitiag Tne 2,623,600 2.63
8. ngNMeiuTy Somdlon’ ny 1,919,722 1.92
9. unnshing Poused Tne 1,829,595 1.83
10. waEy W3yso Tne 1,813,402 1.82

1o o

ufumymwamimwu (Holding Company) ot 100% lasyanaluasznasomiiou laghiligaeuneladetunnniiiovas 30 veausansiiiouvesusyn Holding Company Usznaudy

ngugaanu mmm;uwna dndiusesas (%) ngugaau mumgmnna dndiusesas (%)
1) nguunasaly augnay 437,180 21.86 4) nguuNANIIY Tomilyy 307,660 15.38
2) nguuedusy Femiou 306,300 15.32 5) nguunilan Famuul 316,940 15.85
3) nguwiedsyal Suiand 331,140 16.56 6) NGNUNTNN WTYTD 300,780 15.04
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Management
(1) Management structure
The Company 's management structure consists of
3 committees :
1. The Board of Directors. 2. The Executive Committee.
3. The Audit Committee

AMSNIINNTUIVT
3. ANSNITUNTATIVTDY

AM:NSSUNISUSUN / The Board of Directors
smnunsairiilg fAnounny Remuneration
- A . , AVNITUNTUIIN
e 19750 AUHUI Number of Meeting P X
Attendances for Tuniie ielszyn
No. Names Positions Company Directors 3
Reward g all es

1% weduie Foniou * sgsunssums / dassudmdhiigms 4/4 59,500 20,000
Mr.Sanchai Chaixanien Chairman of the Board / Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

2. WyEndn Fanuui NIIUMI / NITUMIFIANT / Fernnemarheuimsuasnsiu 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr.Sahasee Chitanondh Director / Managing Director/ Vice President for Administration and Finance

3. st Miugwad b NIIUMT / DVIYNIAVNITHANT / @UVIYMILITEN 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mrs.Sorranee Deephanphongs Director / Secretary of the Board of Directors / Secretary company

4. WudTal 1o Tan] NIINNT 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr.Chirawut Chaiyawat Director

5. UNNRAT quUnIna N33uM3 / Yszsunssunsnsiaden 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mrs.Songsiri Soontornwipat Independent Director / Chairman of the Audit Committee

6. wgwlug glud NITNNT / NITUNIATIVADY 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr. Mamoru Kubota Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee

7. wgauifiesd odaduning NITUNTDATE / NITNMIATIVAOY 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr.Somkiat Twiltermsup Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee

8. wogdud waand © NITUMIdaaz 3/4 45,000 15,000
Mr.Suchin Wanglee Independent Director

9. 3.0, nuaty Fomiioy NIINAT 3/4 45,000 15,000
Flg.Off. Kamolnai Chaixanien Director

10. WM a0 N3NNI 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr.Takashi Yatabe Director

11. wglnFen anani NITNMI 4/4 45,000 20,000
Mr.Toshiaki Sasaki Director

kRt 599,500 210,000

* flﬁllf?‘lihllﬂ'lu'lﬂWﬂl”ll»h’lﬂil/iﬂ\l (u]aauuz/mmmuw 9 fuaw 25 63)
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Power and duties : The Directors shall perform their
duties in accordance with law, the Company's objects and Articles
of Association, and the regulations of the shareholders
Agreements. The directors are empowered to make decisions
and supervise the operation of the Company, except the following
matters which the Board must receive approved from the
shareholders' meeting before taking any action :

1. Any matter which, by how and/or by regulations of
the Company, it is required that approval must be
given by the shareholders' meeting.

2. Any relate party transaction according to the
announcement of the SET. in regard to the rules,
procedures and disclosures of related party
transaction of registered companies.

The Board of Directors of the Company may authorize
any one director or a number of directors or any member of the
Executive Committee to take any action on behalf of the Board
but within the specifications set by the Board. In practice
however, this authorization is only given upon certain occasions.

Name and number of directors authorized to sign on
behalf of the company : Mr.Sahasee Chitanondh sign together
with Mrs.Sorranee Deephanphongs and the company‘s seal
(former : Mr.Sanchai Chaixanien or Mrs.Sorranee Deephanphongs
or Mr.Sahasee Chitanondh, two of whom may sign jointly,
with a company seal)

AM:NSSUNISUSMISIIA:WUSMS / The Executive Committee and Management Executives

aau/No. $1EI"T;ﬂlNamcs Aun1/Positions
1* | weduse Fondiou & szmunssnms / Usssmdwihiuims
Mr. Sanchai Chaixanien Chairman of the Board / Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
2* [ welsesa Aviugnay D soaszmudhiinims / gennomthelfidns
Mr. Chaiyong Deephanphongs Vice-Chief Executive Officer (Vice-CEO) / Vice President for Operation
3¢ | wwandn Fanuud ¢ N3IUNT / NIIUNMIEIANT / Fennenmsiheuimauasnatu
Mr.Sahasee Chitanondh Director / Managing Director (MD) / Vice President for Administration and Finance
4% | unasad fvtugmay d ATIVNT / @VIYMIANLNTINAT / @VIYMTLTEN
Mrs. Sorranee Deephanphongs Director / Secretary of the Board of Directors / Secretary company
5% | wenlund maana fonnemsthelidngsy aetifinasy
Mr. Pramot Hansakul Vice President for Legal Affairs, Legal Affair Division
6* | unE@nMmn quendud fennemsiholyd meusmsuasativayy
Ms. Wassana Suksayan Vice President for Accounting Manager, Admin & Supporting Division
7o | unandyyins AWugwad Kensmamgmsaaauazativany aemsaaauazaiudyy
Ms. Gunyapart Deephanphongs Vice President for Marketing & Supporting, Marketing & Supporting Division
g% ngInyy hGOGEGRY Aedennems / grediamslisaudiunnusy qunmuasmalulagnmisnde celsaanuy
Mr.Kasem Kusolsirikrun Assistant Vice President for Planning & QA Section / Assistant Factory Manager for Planning & QA Section, Factory Division
9xx | yaTpgInsel 85519) A98811813 MeNInaIa
Mrs.Rutchadapon Yatat Assistant Vice President for Marketing, Marketing Division.
10+ | ngiszaiy @ealny Aefvamslanudmunsndauazininssy / melsanu
Mr. Prajoub Lerdtai Assistant Factory Manager for Production & Engineering Section,, Factory Division
11 | wemadls dluzqies miinudumaiinela nelssnu
Mr.Kazuhiro Inoue Senior Technician Adviser, Factory Division
12 | weamszm AeMTEIa Hinmathednde mouTmsuazaivayy
Ms. Prapa Pisuttitada Purchase Manager, Admin & Supporting Division
13%% | wgwana deiila diamsthedmnssy melsanu
Mr.Nawapol Singnil Engineering Manager, Factory Division
14%% | ygeraly Fwhiud fiamsthenda 2 delseau
Mr.Arnut Jumpanunt Production Manager 2, Factory Division
15% [ mnganiiesd yuiiTing diamsthenda 3 delsanu
Mr.Somkiat Khunpitak Production Manager 3, Factory Division
16 | Wi w3 diamsthonagnsiamingdu uazladadnd aoudmanazaiveyu
Ms.Rassamee Nonsiri Strategic Sourcing & Logistic Manager, Admin & Supporting Division
17 | vnamadasa aef Fvamsthenwensuyud meuimsuaznsituy
Mrs. Laphatrada Saikham Human Resource Manager, Admin & Finance Division

* a1y 1-6: FUTMT 4 51900 lJ]JWmJiL“ﬁ‘IMWWuWIUFWﬁ a7 - 17 dmihithessmnalseiile ** I8uudenadio Tuil 13 fnau 2563 = Ufimmhiiaeuil 31 fuay 2563
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YIENMrUA
ALU:NSSUNMISNSI9daou / The Audit Committee
o o 4 o i o P X o < o
any YV AIMHU ‘iJ']N’JNﬂiQTI!’U'IS’JSHJSZ’IgN !Uﬂﬂi%‘lgu 1J']!‘I’iu‘iliji¥il'l?.] il
No. Name Position Number of Meeting Meeting Annual
Attendances allowances Remuneration**
1% UNNTAT quniIng n35MIDase / Usemunssunisnsivden 4/4 20,000 240,000
Mrs. Songsiri Soontornwipat Independent Director / Chairman of the Audit Committee
2 mfmﬂu? fﬂuéﬁ NITUNTDATE / NITUNTATIVADL 4/4 20,000 100,000
Mr. Mamoru Kubota Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee
3 WeaANNYIA  oIaANNITNg NIIUNIDEATE / NITUNIIATIVAOL 3/4 15,000 100,000
Mr.Somkiat Twiltermsup Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee
EREY 55,000 440,000

* dafuasszaumsallunisaeunvaunisdu laedugaouiyFiveyga  ** dmeuunulsziil 2562 telull 2563

vouras AN :

1) asumulusiminisnesnunanisiuedagniesuas
TWIIND

2)  doumuliisEndszuunamuaumelu (Internal Control)
waznsnadeumely (Internal Audit) ﬁtﬁm:ﬁmmz
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asvaeumely aaenvulinnufiureulunsiiaisan
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yanadanan Taadhimssaiu daeuiayilanhid
thedamadhiuszgudsediatiosilas 1 a%a

5 Wsanaensninealeatu wienensielsdini
TaudamanalszleniliTulimungrunouasdoivua
yoanaandnning il iel¥aruulaiisenis
aananaumaauna waziiulszlenigagadeuitm

6) IANMINBNUMIMNLYUAAINTVBIAVLATINMNTATIVAOL
TnedlaweBlunonulsssiiveansim Fmenudandn
dosaaunulaglsemunnznITuAIINTINEDL

7) ﬂﬁﬁ'ﬁﬂ13§u°lﬂmuﬁﬂmzﬂiﬁumimmu?ﬁmauwmﬂﬁw
ANNAUYOUIINANLATINATATIVEOL

(2) MIAITNINIIUMINAHUINS

dotared 2550 amsnssumsuisng 1&TudAndadanas
voumnelausnssumaamaaey whiiduauzoynisums
a33M uazAmzaynIIuAIAnTandneuuny Tuiliidumane
aynssumaa Idimalssg 1 A% Ainsanduiiunsassmynaad
figuauiAamnzauiivzudadsalifunssums udnhaensield
ABIENITUIMIANTENNAUNTEY uazilszmunsaumazfudinuony
Foynnaivsudsaaiunssums Wildssguddedudsazuuuiden
Srannvesiunuiuiiimlssg tazesnidentnsinuiinionoyla
Tagindninast uazismadadelil

Power and duties

1) Review the Company's financial statements with
accuracy and sufficiency.

2) Examine the Company's internal control system and
the internal audit to achieve suitability and efficiency.
Determine audit units independence as well as approve
the appointment, transfer, and dismissal of the chief of
an internal audit or any unit being responsible for the
Company's internal audit.

3) Examine the Company's performance to be in
compliance with the laws relating to securities and the
S.E.T., within the regulations of the S.E.T. or the laws
relating to the Company's business.

4) Consider, select and nominate an independent person
as the Company's auditor and to propose such person's
remuneration as well as attend a non-executive meeting
with auditor as least once a year.

5) Review connected transactions, or transactions that may
lead to conflicts of interests as to ensure that the
Company' complies with all related rules.

6) Arranging for the Audit Committee's report to be
disclosed in the Company's annual report and such
report must be signed by Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

7) Perform any task assigned by the Board of Directors
under recommendation from the Audit Committee.

(2) Nomination of directors and management executives.

Towards the end of 2007 the Board of Directors resolved
to appoint and assign the Audit Committee to act as a Nomination
and remuneration Sub-Committee. In the past year, the sub-
committee held one meeting to consider, select, scrutinize and
nominate suitable persons relating to the Company's Articles
of Association to be directors and present the list to the Board
of directors to consider the nominations. Then, the Chairman
of the Board recommended the nominated persons to be
appointed at the shareholders' meeting. The shareholders then
voted under majority of the number of attended shares according
to the rules and procedures as follows :-
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Election

1) One shareholder can vote = 1 share per 1 vote.

2) Each shareholder must use all the votes to elect one
person or a number of persons but the votes can not be
divided.

3) Persons with the highest respective number of votes
will be elected as directors = the number of directors
required to be elected. If respective candidates have
equal votes and the number exceeds what is required
to be elected, the Chairman will cost his vote. In the
case when a directorship is vacant for a reason, and
not upon completion of a director's term of duty as
specified by the Company's regulations, the Board of
Director will be required to select a qualified person,
who is not under any disqualification under the Public
Company Act. This person will become a director in
replacement and will attend the next Board meeting.

(3) Management remuneration.
(3.1) Cash remuneration (for 2019)

(a) Total remuneration of all Board Directors
(meeting allowances and remuneration which
varied according to the company’s operation
result including remuneration of all Audit
Committee) totaling 11 persons (together with
the director who acting secretary of the Board
of Directors amounted in total to Baht 1.21
million. (See details in Management structure
-heading-the Board Directors and Audit committe).

(b) Total remuneration and number of all Executive
Committee and Management Executives (salary,
bonus) totaling 6 persons [for the first four
executives from the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) downward] amounted to Baht 16.19
million. (See details in Management structure).

(3.2) Other non-monetary remunerations.
- Cars for executives.

(4) Corporate Governance

The Company and its Board of directors were able to
comply under the code of best practices specified by the SET, except
the issue which required the Board Chairman to be independent or
an external director. This was due to the fact that the aluminium
industry, in which the Company involved, was a specialized business
and required experience in management. The existing chairman had
long been in this industry and his long experience could contribute a
great deal for the benefit of the company.

The SET stressed the importance of the principles of good
corporate governance and proceeded continuously to encourage
listed companies to maintain the principles of good corporate
governance. In this regard, the SET made additional adjustments to
the 15 principles of good corporate governance and the recommended
best practices are now presented in 5 categories to be regarded as
directives for listed companies to conform and to present such
principles publicly together with reasons for not conforming (if any)
in their Annual Statements (Form 56-1) and their annual reports as
follows :



18 (&) lunwouassremsdeyarszill (wu 56-1) uazseau
Ussiiilvosuiim fail
(4.1) ansvesroeru

viEma Idldanuddguasimswanivesdiedu
Saldmmuaulomelunismiuguanams Tasmiladeanivesdie
7w wu anslumsdoneviolowiu msldsumsiumanndlsves
fams mslasudeyainmsedraiisaneuaziunar msihuues
lianFeondiasnzuuulunislszyguddeiumeldnseudaniviua
YeINQHIBIAEMANMIMALQuaR IRV ULI Az o

Tudlidunnising dmnlssguaiddonu 1
a¥a uanmﬁamnmﬂ‘ﬂmwﬂéﬁ'a;g,amiaumﬂmu?}aem a9 il
amanannswdmvuaudy vimldvadeiideriaszqu oy Ju
nan aonufl wasnszmalszam whenadeyarlszneumstlazguas
ANUIALYBIAMZNIINMITULAAZ1E MITAFeNOURUNZMNILLYEA
NIWWAINFININITAT NFENTIMNATT vdninasimsueuIune N
ameifou msvenidssasnsuun wnuil Muiimalsmalusanly
wilsdoRindligGovfunnnenaudmhaidefuvesuiime
wazngriofifvatesivua Faaondiialssguiiumousniiing
Tagmilatannulszvdanazazainadedderulumsdiiulszagu
wazazil5uilyadeyalszneumsdssgudedulvineaziBeauin
By

Tunatssquidoruiiiuaniinsunisiioglu
vszmadhinnlssquifouiann Taodssuluiivssgesduiums
Yszgulamszmalszgy wasdalomaliddeofuiantediani
diownulumadnon anvdeumsaniinay MaudainuAndil
wastoiauauuzea q ldedradui  Tunaldiuinlszdusnom
nasdefnifiuiidiay1ide

(4.2) anumuisuiuvesneru

Fieunnievosuiing sldFunaljiad
whifleufuuazussanlasmmeansuiugu aasnssumasaiiu
Towdrneanuazainiun daoiunniiu Taeldddouily
ansodnlszguldsmnsoldmisdeneununzauuuuvoansy
Wanngafamad nasnmamndiyd deveudunslidaundiiiums
wnu Taoring sziaueiforssunssumsdassrionsunsdas
agatios 1 v ifumadenlumsveuiunzvesdderiu Walema
Tiddovuanusalanslumsudenanssumsldifuneynna afuau
Tidnmsiiasanzuuudoslumnssdiy @y mavhaemsineloe
wonulisalaunsanaaouldlunsdiideldudalunmends s
ansoueinnzmaszgldmoldnsoudorsiy dormuave
nYMNY

iefloatunudaudananalssloni aus
nITuMIIsAinzaneduseLAsLNTIin Mo finudaud
manatszTond Savdninaminensiinelsafuauiiaaandnning
fvuaifhunmalumaljia Tasnauasdeuhasmiiouihnens
fuynnamouon uonaniidamvualinssmsuasfuimnsiita i
Fugansauiiduuismlidiiuazsasonidsaluniadadula
pansani 9 wasld@lamenoazdoalilunsalszid asuwy
56-1 Mwagquammuaunaliialumniuinsuasiloasulil
nssums fuimanasfiierdonidoyanioluvesvismlulfie
UslonidunuriefaulumaivevdaiiunsenFoufaorudu
Tagnssunsuazuimslaneanunistenseandnnindliuname
nasumailutszan

(4.1) Rights of Shareholders

The Company gives great significance and respects
the rights of shareholders. The Board maintains a policy of good
corporate governance by adhering to the rights of shareholders such
as the rights to purchase or to sell or to transfer shares, the rights to
receive sufficient information within sufficient time, the rights to
attend and to vote at the meeting of shareholders, within legal
specifications and within the principles of good corporate governance
for listed companies.

In the past year, the Company held a Annual
General shareholders' meeting 1 times apart from the disclosure of
information through various media within the specification by
the SET. The Company sent a letter inviting to attend the meeting
indicating the day, time and location of the meeting, the meeting
agendas together with the meeting documents and directors'
recommendations according to each agenda, the power of attorney
authorized to vote according to the form of the Business Development
Department, the Ministry of Commerce, specifications of the power of
attorney, the registration, the voting, the map of location, together with
the press advertisement informing all the shareholders in advance
according to the Company's regulations and within legal qualifications.
The meeting location was arranged outside the Company's
premises, taking into consideration the economy involved and the
convenience of the shareholders to attend the meeting and to adjust
the information contained in the meeting documentation with more
details.

In the past shareholders' meeting, nearly all the directors
present in the country attended the meeting. The meeting chairman
would proceed according to the agendas and would give equal
opportunity for the shareholders to make enquiries, to examine the
operational results, to make recommendations and to give advices in
complete satisfaction. The questions and recommendations would
be recorded.

(4.2) Equitable treatment of shareholders

Every shareholder would be given equitable and just
treatment, particularly the basic rights. The Board maintained a policy
to give convenience to every shareholder. Any shareholder unable
to attend the meeting could use the power of attorney as per the form
issued from the Business Development Department, the Ministry of
Commerce to authorize other person to attend on his behalf. The
Company would recommend an independent Chairman would
recommend an independent Chairman or at least one independent
director as an alternative to be authorized. An opportunity would be
given to a shareholder to use his right to appoint a director individually
or encourage him to use cards to make important voting such as in
related party transactions in order to achieve transparency or for
future examination in case of any conflict. This opportunity includes
any addition of an agenda within the regulations and within the
permit of the law.

To prevent any conflict of interest, the Board would
have to take great care in making related party transactions by
upholding the principle of good corporate governance in this regard
according to the SET's directives, with particular care on price and
conditions as if the transactions were made with outsiders. Moreover,
any director or any executive who has a conflict of interest in any
transaction with the Company would not be permitted to join or to
vote when any decision is made on such transaction. Disclosures of
details of such transaction must be given in the annual report and in
Form 56-1. This includes the care to ensure that executives and
related parties would not use inside information for their own interest
or for others which could be regarded as in advantage of other
shareholders. The directors and executives regularly reported their
holding of shares to the Board.
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(4.3) Role of Stakeholders

The Company gives importance to various
stakeholders, not only in regard to those inside the Company such as
staff and executives, but also to those outside the Company such as
customers, trading partners, lenders, government sectors, other relating
organisations and communities particularly in connection with natural
environment and social environment. This is due to the Company's
awareness in the co-operation and support of various stakeholders
which would contribute to competition and to make profit for the
Company, and would lead to success, security and stability for the
Company business. The Company would operate under legal
enforcements and relating regulations. The Company would not
violate any right of stakeholders but protect their rights which would
include any communication regarding illegal or unethical practices,
incorrect financial reporting or insufficient internal control.

(4.4) Disclosure and Transparency

The Board maintains a policy to disclose any
important information relevant to the Company, both financial and
non-financial. Such disclosure must be made correctly, accurately,
on a timely basis and transparently through easy-to-success channels
and through various communication medias according to the standard
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
and other relevant law.

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible
for the Company's Financial Statements which include the relevant
information which appear on the Form disclosing the Annual Report
(Form 56-1) and the actual Annual Report (Form 56-2). These
Forms are made in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards for Thailand, under an appropriate accounting policy,
normally practised, with a careful assessment of the accounting
principles and significant estimates, culminating in the disclosure of
sufficient information in the Notes to Financial Statements, all in
accordance with the specification required by the Stock Exchange
Commission and other relating laws. In this connection, an efficient
system of internal control must be set up in order to ensure the
correctness, completeness and sufficiency of accounting principles.
The Audit Committee must offer recommendations in this regard in
the Report of the audit Committee. The Board should also be of
opinion that the Company's internal control is within a level of
satisfaction and should lead to a reasonable assurance on the worthiness
of the Company's Financial Statements.

The Company's Board should be well aware that
Company's information have a direct influence on the Company's
investors and also the Company's stakeholders. Such is the reason
for the Board to make disclosures of information through various
communicating channels organised by the SET. In regard to relationship
with investors, the Company has not yet set up a division in particular
for this, since there has not much activities in this respect. The Company
has however assigned the Secretary to the Board and the Administrative
Director to arrange communication with investors, institutions,
shareholders, including analyst and relating government sectors. Any
investors interested may contact for information by Tel.02-213-2514
Fax.02-287-2031 or by e-mail address : admin@varo.thai.com

(4.5) Responsibilities of the Board

The Company's Board of Director play an important
role in keeping the principles of good corporate governance to reach
highest benefit. The Board is responsible to take care of shareholders
and take an independent part from the management. Best
recommended practices are :
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(4.5.1) Structure of the Board

The Company's Board of Directors consist of
11 persons of qualifications, experience and capability. These are 3
executive directors, and 8 non-executive directors, 4/8 whom are
independent and 3/8 are member of the Audit Committee. It can be
considered that the Company maintained a balance of power between
the executive directors and the non-executive directors in an
appropriate proportion. A term of duty for directors is in accordance
with the Company's regulations.

The Company's Board is under the duty and
selection process as indicated in (1) (2) above under the Management
Structure.

(4.5.2) Sub-committee

The Board appointed only one sub-
committee under appropriateness and qualifications as specified by
the Stocks Exchange Commission in order to assist the Company
within the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. This sub-
committee is the Audit Committee who maintains its independence
appropriate to the Company's particular nature. This sub-committee
was established on 11" November 1999 upon each term of three
years and it reported direct to the Board. In the past year, the Audit
Committee met 4 times, with its member in attendance under the
duty and selection process as indicated in (1) (2) above under the
Management Structure.

At the end of 2007, the Board appointed and
assigned the Audit Committee to act as a Nominating sub-committee
and to consider the Director remunerations. In the past year, both
the sub-Committee have performed for consider the Nominating and
remuneration of directors one time.

(4.5.3) The Board's role and responsibilities

The Board of Directors consist of persons of
qualifications, experience and capabilities. These directors would
make a joint commitment or give approval to the vision, the business,
the targets and the budget of the Company. The Board would take
care that the management proceeded according the planning in an
efficient way in order to achieve the highest benefits for its business
and its shareholders. The Board would regularly examine and make
a follow up in its operation. In order that the duty to determine the
policies with overall supervision and the actual executive management
should be separate, the past of Board Chairman and the Managing
Director of the Company would not be the same person.

The Company has arranged to produce a
guideline of business ethics according to the Principles of Good
Corporate Governance for any person relating to the Company,
whether they are Company Directors or executives or staff of any
level. The guideline is to be adhered in performing duties under a
good management system, with transparency, honesty, good faith
and fairness for the Company or any stakeholder and the society in
general. All departments must share the responsibilities and grasp
the significance of strict performance, using co-ordination, public
relations, support and follow up, making revisions and up-to-date
adjustments.

In case of conflict of interest, the Board would
consider the related party transactions according to SET's
recommended best practices in this regard.
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The Company gives great significance to the
internal control system, both at the executive level and at the clerical
level, in order to achieve efficiency. The Audit Committee and the
internal auditors report direct to the Board, taking the audit and
protecting the Company's fixed assets to achieve highest benefit.
Their duty is to ensure that the main operation and the significant
financial activities are proceeded according to the targeting plan with
efficiency. Examination must be made into the performance according
to law and regulations. A separation of duties must be effected on the
actual performer, the person to follow up, to control or to assess the
performance. This is to achieve appropriate balance among the
auditors involved.

The Company stresses great importance upon
risk management. This leads to the determining of risk involved and
the assessment of risk. Advance alarm should noted. Protective
measures should also be taken as to various abnormal accounts and
a risk management must be set up in accordance with the law and
relating regulations.

(4.5.4) The meeting of the Board

The Board normally holds a meeting regularly
at least once every quarter, fixing clear agendas in advance and these
must be one agenda regularly follows up on the operational results.
The Board's Secretary would send a letter of invitation to members of
the Board to attend the meeting together with the meeting agendas
and accompanied documents in advance of the meting to enable the
Board member to have sufficient time to study the documents before
attending the meeting. The meeting usually takes at lease4 not less
that one hour and the meeting would be recorded in writing and the
report of the previous meeting, already accepted by the Board, would
be kept for examination by the Board and any relating persons.

In the past year, the Board held a meeting
according to the usual agendas totaling five times and every time in
full attendance of the Board. (See details of the management structure
under the heading of list of the Company Directors. Moreover, a pre
Board meeting had always been held every time before the actual
meeting. This includes the meeting of the Executive Board and other
executives regularly not less than once a month.

(4.5.5) The Board's Self Assessment.

Every Director plays an important role in
over seeing the management in order that the Company should achieve
highest benefit. The Board is responsible for its own performance in
accordance with the Company's regulations and under legal
specifications. Itis also responsible for the shareholders. In the past
year the performance can be regarded as being under a satisfactory
level. In the meantime however, the Board should in the future set
up a self assessment system, aiming to make necessary adjustments.

(4.5.6) Remuneration

At the end of 2007, the Board appointed and
assigned the Audit Committee to take the duty of acting as a sub-
committee to consider the remuneration of directors. In this regard,
in the past year, this sub-committee has considered the remuneration
of directors one time. However such consideration would be taken
by the Board at the meeting of shareholders, taking into view the
level in the same industry, the appropriateness of the duty and the
responsibility assigned and taking also into consideration the
operational results and the performance of each executive.

In the past year, the Company has made the
remuneration by payment to all the directors and executives according
the terms aforesaid in (3) above.

(4.5.7) Educational Development for Directors and
Executives

The Board has encouraged and provided
facilities for the directors, executives and Secretary to the Board to
undertake a training programme on good corporate governance as



winninda anauuismanadeu 4 18edu meldiinaliuly
malfianthiiededeiios wasynafifinmandsumlasnssuns
Tmi 9 sIUATIL 9 velasumanuzthdnyuzgsne wmams
dufiugane deyauazienansiidhulsTenflumsiamhi venan
inssumagiams wazdiimse 1&Tnsnenu damu nmou
Ysutgs nausu madidiuan maann wasfunoanu el
demamianiosnamitaueifulazi

(5) msq!mémmﬂ%’ﬁi’iagamﬂiu

vEmiulenouazisnmsquadusmslumaideyamelu
voauiiia I iileusslomituay vidorensdenondnning Tng
fi’muﬂ‘lﬁ’;ju%mﬁ1mwuﬂ1ﬁélasuwwé’ﬂm%'wﬁmuﬁﬂgwmﬂﬁmuﬂ
wine Mnnsienseandnnindiimanaeul fazaansadunios
vardannugeialduasirunbiimandeulnveimstonsemdn
nwdviolnng Iduimsvesuiimg ihdeyamolulllfiie
Uszlomidruauudszmala

(6) mim‘uQNmsﬂu!mzmiﬁmﬁmmimmn"ém

UBNIINAITNNITLTEN NFTUMITLIMT HUTH3 9213113
auasaunumelussiumilud) viimiidausnsmumaanadon
Faianufudaszam 3 i nsdnsumsdmananddyFiu
Usgmufuiifaniaeunslu Fnnsnmuminmageunasinig
dounelulddndiunisasisden mnuqua lagasisdeuienais
wangu dounudeyanndionims giifeivos nudadiim
Yszguifinumio nanwdsunudaduiududieianms daey
iy¥ RerduaNugndes arudiu uaznhiFedovosaunaiy
mstuiniydvesdhess o eamshngneiyd ssuundeins
nenumaidens mise-miuve auidsaiiAaanmaniugy
molu-gauniimaf ssuumsniugumeluveausunea 4 Fvma
tygninnudenTlsaiu anasputiydiud il 4aq Fawamsana
aoumnanwlasuudieghuszauia duiimelaivosanznssums
AU (31190:189A1UTNYMUNBNUIINAVLNIINNIATIVAOY)
daralinsamamsiuianugndeansudu unsiedeld daiu
AusnIIuNIUsENIufuhszuumsmugumely aaeasumsdnay
MAVYUANIANTUNUYBIIENTANMNEINBUA NI TN
anumsaiifagiu Taglidsainghilfusmavessismimindauves
il lasiiveuvielaglifiens

vita Tufinsenssumatimannuides asenssums
vimsthifuimstanmsanuidesessiing lasdwualithedams
WlihI§iia deelidhedansmnsnauquanuidsdlioglussdy
fivonsuld TnonoaziBoailidoanudsadailday iy

ANNTVHABOUADAINN

v3Emg  Julsweandfiugsnadisnnuiviaseudediny
(Corperate Social Responsibility : CSR) deanuaserinuasli
anuiAgylumsatuayunsdiuiansauguainmdunadeunas
oysnimdanesdoiiiog lnsavanmsdiiiugsieiida anadeu
& fa3u5330 imInAeantuypsutazHalszlomivesdldiuldide
By 9N Jderiu wilnaw gusulaesey A Mieaunasy 9IN
dedenunazlszmamnd Jfialdiduliaudenmuavesngring
wazAiiondnaing Twiadedumnesiiumnguuy

arranged by the SEC, the SET and Listed Companies Association. This
programme is to make continuous improvement on performance and
to make adjustments every time there is a change of new directors.
Every new director would receive introduction on the nature of business,
the guideline for a business operation, the information and documents
which would be useful in making the performance. Moreover, the
Managing Director and the executives would receive reports, follow
up, revise, adjust, make planning, undertake an operation, carry out a
development and a takeover, to be ready under any circumstances in
good time and on a regular basis.

(5) The use of inside information.

The Company sets policy and procedures to prevent the
management executives to use inside information for self interest or
for purchase and sale of securities. The Company specifies that all
management executives must report the purchase and sale of securities
in accordance with legal requirements, since movement in securities
may indicate in sincerity. In the past, it never occurred that any of
the Company's management executives ever use inside information
for self interest.

(6) The Internal Control System and Risk Management.
Apart from the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee
and the management executives who manage and control the internal
operation at one level, the Company also has an Audit Committee
consisting of 3 independent directors, one of which is qualified in
accounting and acts as Chairman, together with the internal auditors
undertake the audit and the supervision by examining the documents,
making enquiries from the management and any concerned persons.
This includes attendance at meetings for consultation, exchanging
views with the management and the external auditors regarding the
correctness, completeness and the reliability of the financial statements,
the recording of accounts at various departments, the important
accounting documents, the system of taxes, the report of tax payments,
the purchase tax and the sales tax, the risk occurred in the internal
control system and trade accounts receivables, the internal control
system in various departments, the accounts of related party
transactions, revised and new accounting standards etc. The audit
result in general is in a god ranges giving satisfaction to the Audit
Committee. (Details appeared in the Audit Committee's Report) These
results prove the Financial Statements to be completely correct and
can be regarded as reliable. The Board of Directors is of opinion that
the internal control system together with the monitoring and
supervision of the Company's operation can be regarded as sufficient
and appropriate accordi9ng to the present circumstances. It has
never occurred that any of the Company's assets by wrong doing or
by any unauthorized act
The Company has no risk management committee. The
Executive Committee is the risk management of the Company, then
the management are implements and responsible for the formulation
and design including identifying risk factors. The planning of operations
or performance will consider the risk factors too, which held the
management to design a control point and control the risk to an
acceptable level. Details of the risk factors, as already stated

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

The Company has a strong business policy to operate under
corporate social responsibility (Corporate Social Responsibility: CSR)
with awareness and emphasize to continuously support environmental
protection and energy conservation activities. The principles of running
business are ethics, transparency, auditable, respect for human rights
and the interests of stakeholders, such as customers, shareholders,
employees, communities, partners, government agencies, society and
the nation. The company also has an adherence to comply with the
requirements of the law and/or international, including against all
forms of corruption.
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Corporate governance: To manage with good corporate
governance, conduct business by committed to build credibility with
investors and stakeholders, add value and promote the sustainable
growth of the organization.

Environmental protection and conservation of energy: The
Company has a clear environmental and energy conservation policy,
and implement strictly by laws and environmental standards, ISO
14001 environmental management system, to eliminate environmental
problems systematically and efficiently. The company keeps
measuring and monitoring environmental affect from the operation,
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), environmental impact
analysis both positive and negative affect to improve and develop
even joining up with government programs for energy conservation
and environmental protection industries such as Green Industries
Project, Pineapple Eyes Project, etc.

Fair conductibility: The Company is committed in
conducting business with a fair and ethical manner, comply with law
and respect to the rules of society.

Respect of Human Rights: The basic of human rights is
crucial to promote respect for the rights and freedom, discrimination,
promote equality, not sexist and racist, no child labor and against all
forms of corruption.

Fair treatment to workers: The Company supervises payroll,
compensation and other facilities to be at the appropriate level
comparing to the industry under the framework of the law. The
company has a welfare Board so that employees can involve in the
administration of employee welfare to focus on the care, safety and
hygiene at work. The company also has a committee of safety, health
and environment in the factory to handle operation with safe and
good hygiene to employees. We provided training in basic firefighting,
fire evacuation drills, medical examination in annually, safety
inspections of the workplace, installation of fire alarms, create a safe
working environment for employees, visitor. As well as the knowledge
of the training workshop, recreation such as soccer mathes, labour
day's tourism, making merit with and present food alms to a Buddhist
, party and giveaways new year's festival party, birthday's gift.

Relationships with customers and partners: The Company
focuses on quality, standard product and safety for customer
satisfaction. Therefore it is opened for any complaints, conduct for
customer satisfaction survey, seek for defect modification that might
occur from the manufacturing, and/or services. Meanwhile, it is
expected for the company to receive good product and services in
the same manner from partners to meet the terms of trade and maintain
good relations and sustainability.

Donations for various charities: In addition to perform
social responsibility on the part of normal business operations (in
process), the company has performed beyond normal business
operations (after process) with a donation of money/property to the
public charity through various government agencies and charities as
well as charity events.

Dividend Policy

The company has a policy to pay dividend to shareholders
once a year at not more than 60% of the net profit of the operation
but the approval for this must be considered at the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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Taomhsudndudaanidu fo dunuandlsdnin il 2562
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The Company made a rental agreement for a building of
640 sq.m.space together with a parking lot with Thai Metal Works
Co., Ltd. (with 100% shareholding by persons in the Chaixanien
family) a holding company with 41.89% stake in the Company
as at 23" March 2020 and sharing directors with the Company,
for use as an office location. The Contractual term was for one
year and the rental rate was Baht 80,000 per month which could
be regarded as a normal course of a business transaction. In
2019, these transactions totaled Baht 0.96 million and no
outstanding balance.

The Company also entered into a new technical
assistance agreement with Mitsubishi Aluminum Co., Ltd. who
held 13.39% stake in the Company (after shareholder meeting
was approved), for a period 5 years effective from 27"
January 2017 in continuation from the original agreemen) with
an objective for a technology transfer to enhance the production
efficiency and quality in the existing products as well as new
products consisting of pre-coated fin stock for automobile heat
exchange in the motor car industry and new fin stock for
air-conditioners and other products to be agreed. The remu-
neration is as follows :

- Fixed monthly royalty of Baht 500,000 for 2
engineers (or as agreed) to be sent to the Company (excluding sala-
ries and other privileges) as long as they are in the Company’s
service. In 2019, these transactions totaled Baht 6 million and
no outstanding balanct.

- Running royalty paid Semi-annual period divided by 1)
New Fin stock for heat exchangers are 1-6% of Roll Margin by
varying the amount of sales and the Recovery of the production
(yield) over the five (5) years from the first sale except one product
shall start from April 23, 2016 for 5 years and shall pay at the
rate above from December 27, 2016 2) New fin stock for air condition-
ing as agree by both parties but not exceeding the rate of 4.5% of
the ROLL MARGIN of such New Fin Stock for Air Conditioners
3) Other New products (if any) as agree by both parties but not
exceeding 6% of the Roll Margin In 2019 no transactions and no
outstanding balance.

The Company also entered into a new distribution agreement
with Mitsubishi Group appointing MALC-Thai Co., Ltd. as
distributor and Thai-MC Co., Ltd. as sub-distributor in order to
expand the distribution base to Japanese customers (after
shareholder meeting was approved), for a period of 5 years

th January 2017 (in continuation from the

effective from 27
original agreemen) with the same general conditions as before.
In 2019, these transactions totaled Baht 690.73 million, outstanding

balance totaled Baht 60.31 million.
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The Company entered into a lease agreement for a piece
of land, locating at the front and next to the plant, covering an
area of 9 rai, with Mrs. Nida Chitanondh (persons in the
Chaixanien family), a shareholder holding 2.49% stake of the
Company as at 12" March 2018 and being the overall owner of
the title deed, for use the benefit of the Company’s business and
also for use as a car park. The contractual term was for one year
and the rental rate was Baht 15,000 per month, which could be
regarded as a normal course of a business transaction. In 2019,
these transactions totaled Baht 0.18 million and outstanding
balance totaled Baht 0.36 million.

The Company employed Niti Casting Co., Ltd., a metal
service provider who shared the same directors as the Company
to produce necessary disposable supplies including sold its
products (scraps) to Niti Casting Co., Ltd, which was in
accordance with normal trading conditions, with a price compa-
rable to the market price. In 2019, these transactions totaled
Baht 1.18 million no outstanding balance and Baht 0.64 million
outstanding balance totaled Baht 0.08 million respectively.

The Company purchased piles with driving service for
foundations work of machinery and buildings from United
Construction Material Co., Ltd., who shared the same directors
as the Company, which is in accordance with normal business
operations and general trading conditions comparable to market
prices. In 2019, these transactions totaled Baht 1.64 million and
no outstanding balance.

The Company sold its products to Thai Refrigeration
Components Co., Ltd., a producer of refrigerators who shared
the same directors as the Company, according to the orders which
were in the normal course of trading transactions (cost plus
margin). In 2019, these transactions totaled Baht 11.68 million,
outstanding balance totaled Baht 0.13 million, including
purchased back its products (scraps) as raw materials with a
price comparable to the market price total value of transaction
is 12.95 million baht and outstanding balance totaled Baht 2.53
million.

The above transactions are fair and does not cause a
conflict of interest. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
approved that transactions, relatively normal business, reasonable
as well as according to the market mechanism, market price
equivalent to the price to do with outsiders. According to the
rules, through the approval process properly. In the future will
continue to exist as necessary under normal operating conditions
and trade. Using trade policy negotiated based on market
mechanisms, and no conflict of interest.

(Please see the Balance sheets and note to Financial

Statements)
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1. Management Discussion and Analysis

In the year 2019, the company also focused on the
distribution of roll products, including Finstock & Precoated
Finstock, Finstock for Automotive Heat Exchangers, and
Foil segment with the proportion of Rolled Product Up to
90.90% of total sales and decreased 12.65% compared
to 2018. For sheet product, the proportion of sales
volume in 2019 is only 9.10% of the total sales volume
which increased 40.65% from the previous year.

For the operating results in 2019, the company
had net profit after tax of 148.57 million baht. Sales
were 1,569.20 million baht, 12.65% from the previous
year as a due to the decrease in metal price including
a high competitive in the selling price. The percentage
of cost of goods sold per sales increased from 95.29% to
104.43 which was higher than sales price. Selling and
administrative expenses increased of a total cost of 96.17
million baht due to marketing expenses for oversea
business was increased. Interest decrease to 18.94 mil-
lion baht.

In the year 2019, the company had other income
of 14.07 million baht with gain on exchange 30.62 million
baht.

In summary, in 2019, the company had loss
148.87 million baht or 9.49 percent, equal to 1.49 baht
per share and profit before interest and tax plus
depreciation amortization (EBITDA) equal to 1.67% of
revenue which decreased from 2018 which is 8.18

At the end of 2019, the company had total assets
of 1,720.58 million baht, decreased 165.84 million baht
compared to 2018. Current assets decreased from
1,035.68 million baht in 2018 to 828.53 million baht
in 2019, most of which were decreased in the invento-
ries from 682.87 million baht in 2018 to 467.74 million

baht in 2019. For trade and other receivables increased
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slightly from 296.37 million baht in 2019 to 310.11
million baht in 2019, The fixed assets increased from
827.86 million baht to 885.84 million baht at the end
of 2019, which was caused by the new machines instal-
lation. Other current assets decreased to 45.51 million
baht, most of which were waiting for Input tax refund-
able. The overall debt was at 807.20 million baht, a
decrease from 809.23 million baht resulting in Current
liabilities (Short-term loans) declined from 772.79 to
582.30 million baht due to tightening control on inven-
tories. The non-current liabilities increased to 224.89
million baht mostly from long term loans machineries.
Reserve for employee benefits increased slightly from
29.25 to 34.17 million baht due to change of post-
employment benefits plan amendment according to the
Labor Protection Act (No.7) B.E.2562. Shareholders’
equity decreased from 1,077.19 to 913.38 million baht.
An unappropriated retained earnings was in a minus
number of -10.53 million baht from 153.28 million baht
in 2019

For overall financial status is still good with an
increase in liquidity ratio to 1.42, the proportion
of total liabilities to shareholders’ equity Slightly
increased to 0.88. Profitability ratio still has in a minus
numbers with Profit Margin at -9.48 Return on equity
ratio and per total assets at -14.96% and -8.25%
respectively.

In 2019, the company had a net cash flow from
operating activities of 106.81 million baht. Net cash
used in investing was 139.34 million baht. Cash used in
financing activities was 34.23 million baht. Net cash for
the period decreased by 1.71 million baht. Average debt
collection period 70 days decreased from 61 days. The

repayment time decreased to 127 days from 142 days.

(2) Fee for the external auditors
(2.1) The company pays the audit fee to Miss.

Sirirat Sricharoensup, the auditor of EY Office Limited
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for the accounting period ending 31 December 2019
for the amount of Baht 1,490,000.

(2.2) Non-audit fee : Miscellaneous expenses
etc. traveling cost, lodging cost, not exceeding Baht

120,000 in total which was normal formality.
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the
Company's Financial Statements including the information
as appeared in the Annual Report, which are made in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting
standard, with a consideration in choosing an appropriate
accounting system and using such on a regular basis.
Significant datas must be sufficiently disclosed in the Notes
accompanied the Financial Statements in accordance with
the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the Stock Exchange in regard to the arrangement and
presentation of the Financial Statements according to the
Securities and Security Exchange Act B.E.2535.

The Board has appointed the Audit Committee
consisting of independent directors to examine and supervise
the Financial Statements, to assess the internal control
system and the internal audit to achieve efficiency, to assure
that the recording of factual accounting is correct and
complete in sufficient time and punctually, and to protect
against any wrongdoing or irregularity according to the
opinion of the Audit Committee as appeared in the Audit
Committee's Report which is shown in this year's Annual
Report.

The Board is of opinion that the internal control
system and the internal audit system are able to create
reasonable confidence towards the believability of the
Company's Financial Statements, showing correct financial

position, operation results and cash flow.

ol CRbdh . [m B

Mr.Sahasee Chitanondh  Mrs.Sorranee Deephanphongs

Managing Director Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Varopakorn Public Company Limited (the Company),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the related statements of comprehensive
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Varopakorn Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2019, its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report.
I am independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued by the
Federation of Accounting Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and I have fulfilled my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

I have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, my audit included the performance of
[procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
The results of my audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for my audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond for each matter are described below.

Sales

Revenue from sales is considered to be a significant account to the Company’s financial statements because the
amount recorded directly impact the Company’s annual profit and loss. In addition, volatility in the prices of the main
raw materials for production and the competition in the rolled and sheet aluminium production industry, and this has
directly affected the sales of the Company. I therefore focused on the recognition of sales income, especially timing of
revenue recognition.

I have examined the revenue recognition of the Company by assessing and testing the Company’s internal controls
with respect to the revenue cycle by making enquiry of responsible executives, gaining an understanding of the controls
and selecting representative samples to test the operation of the designed controls. On a sampling basis, I also examined
supporting documents for sales transactions occurring during the year and expanded the scope of the testing for the
sales transactions occurring near the end of the accounting period. In addition, I reviewed credit notes that the
Company issued after the period-end and performed analytical review procedures on sales accounts.

Provision for diminution in value of inventory

Estimating the net realisable value of inventory, as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements, is an area
requiring management judgment. In addition, the Company’s inventories mainly consist of semi-finished aluminium
products, and the key raw materials for these product is aluminium ingot, of which the price depends on global market
prices. There is thus a risk with respect to the amount of the provision set aside for diminution in the value of
inventory.



I assessed the method and the assumptions applied by management in determining such provision by gaining
an understanding of the basis applied in determining the provision for diminution in value of inventory and reviewing
the consistency of the application of that basis, comparing the inventory holding periods and inventory movements to
identify product lines with indicators of lower than normal inventory turnover, and comparing net realisable values
from sales transaction soccurring after the date of the financial statements with the cost of inventory for each product
line.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included
in annual report of the Company, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The
annual report of the Company is expected to be made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the annual report of the Company, if T conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Thai Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, I exercise professional judgement and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, in
tentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.



e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If T conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I
identify during my audit.

I also provide those charged with governance with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, I determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, [ determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

I am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

ShtodhSS

Sirirat Sricharoensup
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No.5419

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 28 February 2020



Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Statement of position
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2019 2018
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 5,158,933 3,448,476
Trade and other receivables 6, 8 310,113,187 296,368,119
Inventories 9 467,744,512 682,871,498
Other current assets 10 45,510,666 52,991,957
Total current assets 828,527,298 1,035,680,050
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 885,842,281 827,861,266
Intangible assets 12 3,360,537 4,090,490
Deferred tax assets 19 1,636,441 1,131,625
Other non-current assets 1,209,500 17,654,708
Total non-current assets 892,048,759 850,738,089

Total assets

1,720,576,057

1,886,418,139

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

[}
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Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Statement of position (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2019 2018
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions 13 33,243,814 82,743,909
Accounts payable - trust receipts 13 462,983,647 563,429,109
Trade and other payables 6, 14 51,626,816 103,538,178
Current portion of long-term loans 15 25,880,000 11,780,000
Other current liabilities 8,567,930 11,297,300
Total current liabilities 582,302,207 772,788,496
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans, net of current portion 15 188,008,000 4,940,000
Provision for long-term employee benefits 16 34,170,717 29,249,206
Other non-current liabilities 2,717,359 2,251,940
Total non-current liabilities 224,896,076 36,441,146
Total liabilities 807,198,283 809,229,642

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Statement of position (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2019 2018
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Registered
100,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 5 each 500,000,000 500,000,000
Issued and fully paid
99,902,123 ordinary shares of Baht 5 each 499,510,615 499,510,615
Premium on ordinary shares 374,400,000 374,400,000
Retained earnings
Appropriated - statutory reserve 17 50,000,000 50,000,000
Unappropriated (10,532,841) 153,277,882
Total shareholders' equity 913,377,774 1,077,188,497
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,720,576,057 1,886,418,139

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

s1w0uUs:9W 2562



Varopakorn Public Company Limited (doludoyalnu)

Statements of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2019 2018
Profit and loss:
Revenues
Sales 6 1,569,203,917  1,796,470,156
Other income
Gain on exchange 30,618,400 -
Gain on commodity swap agreements - 44,437,388
Gain on sales of assets 34,222 239,998
Others 4,072,989 3,974,331
Total revenues 1,603,929,528 1,845,121,873
Expenses
Cost of sales 1,638,692,983 1,711,867,342
Selling and distribution expenses 26,034,970 19,570,327
Administrative expenses 70,141,670 65,230,827
Loss on exchange - 82,565
Total expenses 1,734,869,623 1,796,751,061
Profit (loss) before finance cost and income tax (130,940,095) 48,370,812
Finance cost (18,942,900) (20,818,594)
Profit (loss) before income tax (149,882,995) 27,552,218
Tax incomes 19 1,014,980 40,754
Profit (loss) for the year (148.,868,015) 27,592,972
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Actuarial gain - net of income tax 2,040,653 -
Other comprehensive income for the year 2,040,653 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (146,827,362) 27,592,972
Basic earnings per share
Net profit (loss) 21 (1.49) 0.28

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Retained earnings

Issued and paid-up Premium on Appropriated-
share capital ordinary shares statutory reserve Unappropriated Total
Balance as at 1 January 2018 499,510,615 374,400,000 50,000,000 145,665,335  1,069,575,950
Profit for the year - - - 27,592,972 27,592,972
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 27,592,972 27,592,972
Dividend paid (Note 24) - - - (19,980,425) (19,980,425)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 499,510,615 374,400,000 50,000,000 153,277,882  1,077,188,497
Balance as at 1 January 2019 499,510,615 374,400,000 50,000,000 153,277,882  1,077,188,497
Loss for the year - - - (148,868,015) (148,868,015)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 2,040,653 2,040,653
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (146,827,362) (146,827,362)
Dividend paid (Note 24) - - - (16,983,361) (16,983,361)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 499,510,615 374,400,000 50,000,000  (10,532,841) 913,377,774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Cash flow statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Cash flows from operating activities

2019

2018

Profit (loss) before tax (149,882,995) 27,552,218
Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) before tax to net cash
provided by (paid from) operating activities
Depreciation and amortisation 104,101,493 102,507,392
Written off withholding tax deducted at source 67,137 -
Gain on sales of machinery and equipment (34,222) (239,998)
Loss on write off equipment 1,697,960 247,749
(Reversed) reduction of inventory to net realisable value (14,658,264) 11,797,241
Unrealised exchange gain (470,702) (7,372,808)
Income from government grant (339,445) (251,972)
Interest expenses 18,942,900 20,818,595
Provision for long-term employee benefits 10,351,978 3,149,271
Profit (loss) from operating activities before changes
in operating assets and liabilities (30,224,160) 158,207,688
Operating assets (increase) decrease
Trade and other receivables (13,950,669) 14,972,343

Inventories 224,995,400 (43,541,971)
Other current assets 7,448,646 (25,703,682)
Other non-current assets (100,000) -
Operating liabilities increase (decrease)
Trade and other payables (53,363,829) (7,142,233)
Other current liabilities (6,450,446) (13,788,091)
Other non-current liabilities (2,074,786) (1,329,060)
Cash flows from operating activities 126,280,156 81,674,994
Cash paid for interest expenses (19,433,629) (20,492,767)
Cash paid for income tax (34,492) (827)
Net cash flows from operating activities 106,812,035 61,181,400

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Cash flow statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease in deposit for machine

Acquisition of machinery and equipment

Cash received from sale of machinery and equipment

Acquisition of intangible assets

2019

16,545,208
(155,436,217)

109,296
(554,500)

2018

14,805,008

(67,480,329)
240,000

(138,500)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(139,336,213)

(52,573,821)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts and

short-term loans from financial institutions
Decrease in accounts payable - trust receipts
Cash receipt from long-term loans
Repayment of long-term loans

Dividend paid

(49,500,095)
(96,466,334)

216,593,000
(19,425,000)
(16,966,936)

74,149,456
(35,903,982)
(28,080,000)

(19,961,329)

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 34,234,635 (9,795,855)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,710,457 (1,188,276)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,448,476 4,636,752
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,158,933 3,448,476
Supplemental cash flows information
Non-cash items
Account payables for purchase of machinery and equipment 2,345,022 3,572,144
Dividend payable 16,425 19,096

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



Varopakorn Public Company Limited

Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. General information

Varopakorn Public Company Limited(“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled
in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of semi-finished
aluminium products and its registered address is 181SoiAmorn, Nanglinchee Road, Yannawa, Bangkok. Its

factory is located at 280 Moo 4, Sukhumvit Road Km.41.5, TumbolBangpoo-Mai, Amphur Muang, Samutprakarn.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards
enunciated under the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance
with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 11 October 2016,
issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company.
The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed

in the accounting policies.

3. New financial reporting standards
(a) Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Company has adopted the revised (revised 2018) and new financial reporting
standards and interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January
2019. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding
International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying
accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards. The adoption
of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial
statements. However, the new standard involves changes to key principles, which are summarised
below:
TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TFRS 15 supersedes the following accounting standards together with related interpretations.

TAS 11 (revised 2017) Construction Contracts
TAS 18 (revised 2017) Revenue
TSIC 31 (revised 2017) Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

TFRIC 13 (revised 2017) Customer Loyalty Programmes
TFRIC 15 (revised 2017) Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
TFRIC 18 (revised 2017) Transfers of Assets from Customers
Entities are to apply this standard to all contracts with customers unless those contracts fall

within the scope of other standards. The standard establishes a five-step model to account for



(b)

revenue arising from contracts with customers, with revenue being recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer. The standard requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into
consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model.

This standard does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.
Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
1 January 2020

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of new and revised financial
reporting standards and interpretations, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
1 January 2020. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding
International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying
accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards except the
following new standards which involve changes to key principles, which are summarised below.
Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments
A set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and interpretations,
as follows:

Financial reporting standards:

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
TFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Accounting standard:
TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:
TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating to the classification of
financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised cost (taking into account the
type of instrument, the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the Company’s business
model), calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and hedge accounting.
These include stipulations regarding the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. When
the TFRSs related to financial instruments are effective, some accounting standards, interpretations
and guidance which are currently effective will becancelled.

The management of the Company believes that adoption of these standards will not have any
significant impact on the financial statements.

TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, and
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is low value.

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from TAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles to those used
under TAS 17.

The management of the Company is currently evaluating the impact of these standards on the

financial statements in the year when they are adopted.



4.

Significant accounting policies

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

Revenue recognition
Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at the amount
of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after
deducting returns, discounts, allowances and price promotions to customers.

Government grants

Government grants is recognised where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Company will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to
specific expenses is deferred and recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods
in which the Company recognise as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate.Government grants related to assets is recognised as deferred income and then recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and all highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.
Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance
is generally based on collection experiences and analysis of debt aging.

Inventories

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis and
average cost basis) and net realisable value. Such cost includes all production costs and attributable
factory overheads.

Raw materials, factory supplies and spare parts are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out
basis) and net realisable value and are charged to production costs whenever consumed.
Property, plant and equipment / Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of buildings and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line
basis over the following estimated useful lives.

Factory buildings 20 years
Machinery and factory equipment 10 - 20 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Depreciation is included in determining income.

No depreciation is provided on land and construction in progress and machinery under
installation.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.Any gain or loss arising on disposal of an
assetis included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset

that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are



capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
4.8 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised at cost. Following the initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (if any).
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a systematic basis over the economic useful
life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such intangible assets are
reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation expense is charged to profit or loss.
The intangible assets with finite useful lives arelisted below.

Fsti l il li
Royalty fee 10 years
Computer software 10 years

4.9 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the
Company, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associated companies, and individuals or enterprises which directly or
indirectly own a voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the
Company, key management personnel, directors and officers with authority in the planning and
direction of the Company’s operations.

4.10 Long-term lease agreements

Leases of machinery and motor vehicles which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair
value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The outstanding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables, while the
interest element is charged to profit or loss over the lease period. The asset acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the useful life of the asset.

Leases of property, plant or equipment which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

4.11 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.

Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.

4.12 Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company performs impairment reviews in respect of
the property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised when the
recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use, is less than the carrying amount.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.



4.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benelfits

Salaries, wages, bonuses, contributions to the social security fund and other benefits are
recognised as expenses when incurred.
Post-employment benetfits (Defined benefit plans)

The Company has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees
upon retirement under labor law and other employee benefit plan. The Company treats these
severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified
independent actuary, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income.

4.14 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the
taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax rates
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The Company recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they
recognise deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Company records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to items
that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.

4.15 Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to exchange rate
risk. The Company records such forward exchange contracts at fair value.Unrealised gain or loss
from such contracts are recognised in profit or loss.

Commodity swap agreements

The Company enters into commodity swap agreements to reduce its exposure to price of

commodity risk. The Company records the commodity swap agreements with banks at fair value.

Unrealised gain or loss from such agreements arerecognised in profit or loss.



4.16 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement date.
The Company applies a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and
liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards.
Except in case of no active market of an identical asset or liability or when a quoted market price
is not available, the Company measures fair value using valuation technique that are appropriate
in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs related to assets and
liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on categorise of input to be
used in fair value measurement as follows:

Level 1 - Use of quoted market prices in an observable active market for such assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or indirectly

Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting
period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

4.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

5. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires
management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.
These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures and actual results could differ from
these estimates. Significant judgements and estimates are as follows:

Net realisable value of inventories

The management uses judgement to estimate the net realisable value of inventories taking into consid-
eration the fluctuation of price or cost directly relating to events occurring after the reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of
the useful lives and residual values of the Company’s plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives
and residual values when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a
periodical basis and record impairment losses in the period when it is determined that their recoverable amount
is lower than the carrying amount. This requires judgements regarding forecast of future revenues

andexpenses relating to the assets subject to the review.



Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such
determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate,
mortality rate and staff turnover rate.

Fair value of financial instruments

In determining the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position
that are not actively traded and for which quoted market prices are not readily available, the management
exercise judgement, using a variety of valuation techniques and models. The input to these models is taken
from observable markets, and includes consideration of credit risk (bank and counterparty, both) liquidity,
correlation and longer-term volatility of financial instruments. Change in assumptions about these factors could

affect the fair value recognised in the statement of financial position and disclosures of fair value hierarchy.

6. Related party transactions

During the years, the Company had significant business transactions with related parties. Such
transactions, which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on
commercial terms and bases agreed upon between the Company and those related parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Transactions with related companies 2019 2018 Pricing policy
Sales of goods 704 1,046 Cost plus margin
Purchases of raw material 11 18 At an agreed price
Technical assistance fee 7 6 As per agreement
Running royalty - 1 At an agreed price
Office rental 1 1 At an agreed price

On 27 December 2006, the Company entered into a 10-year distribution agreement with related
companies for the distribution of products to Japanese customers. Commercial terms are as stipulated in the
agreement. In addition, the Company entered into a technical assistance agreement with Mitsubishi Aluminum
Company Limited (a shareholder of the Company), as discussed in Note 23.2 to the financial statements.
Subsequently, on 27 January 2018, the Company entered into a new distribution agreement and a new
technical assistance agreement with such counterparties for a period of 5 years. The commercial terms are as

stipulated in those agreements.



The balances of the accounts as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 between the Company and those re-

lated parties are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Note 2019 2018

Trade and other receivables - related parties 8
Related companies (related by shareholders) 160,308 219,762
Related companies (related by directors) 2,619 3,419
Total trade and other receivables - related parties 162,927 223,181

Trade and other payables - related parties 14
Related companies (related by shareholders) 722 577
Related companies (related by directors) 130 3,214
Total trade and other payables - related parties 852 3,791

Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had employee benefit expenses of their

directors and management as below.

(Unit: Million Baht)

2019 2018
Short-term employee benefits 15 17
Post-employment benefits 4 1
Total 19 18

7. Cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Cash 177 238
Bank deposits 4,982 3,210
Total 5,159 3,448

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits in saving accounts carried interests between 0.125 and 0.625

percent per annum (2018: between 0.125 and 0.75 percent per annum).



8. Trade and other receivables

The balances of trade accounts receivable as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, aged on the basis of due

dates, are summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Tr receivables - rel rti
Aged on the basis of due dates
Not yet due 104,956 131,597
Past due
Up to 3 months 57,971 91,584
Total trade receivables - related parties, net 162,927 223,181
Trade receivables - unrelated parti
Aged on the basis of due dates
Not yet due 91,293 47,492
Past due
Up to 3 months 55,880 25,682
Over 12 months 1,437 1,437
Total 148,610 74,611
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,437) (1,437)
Total trade receivables - unrelated parties, net 147,173 73,174
Total trade receivables - net 310,100 296,355
Other receivables
Other receivables - unrelated party 13 13
Total other receivables 13 13
Total trade and other receivables - net 310,113 296,368

9. Inventories

Reduce cost to

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Cost Inventories - net
net realisable value
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Finished goods 76,321 87,306 (2,618) (9,319) 73,703 77,987
Work in process 197,342 328,379 - (7,062) 197,342 321,317
Raw materials 99,104 123,778 - (382) 99,104 123,396
Spare parts and factory supplies 92,154 128,902 (14,893) (14,960) 77,261 113,942
Goods in transit 20,416 46,758 (81) (528) 20,335 46,230
Total 485,337 715,123 (17,592) (32,251) 467,745 682,872

During the current year, the Company reversed the write-down of cost of inventories by Baht 14 million

and reduced the amount of inventories recognised as expenses during the year (2018: the Company reduced

cost of inventories by Baht 12 million to reflect the net realisable value. This was included in cost of sales).



10. Other current assets

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Input tax refundable 35,569 43,448
Deposit payment for goods 1,377 2,510
Others 8,565 7,034
Total other current assets 45,511 52,992

11. Property, plant and equipment
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Land Factory ~ Machinery  Furniture Motor Construction Total
buildings and f actory  and office o picles rﬁzrzlei;ggerf; foggr
equipment  equipment installation

Cost:
1 January 2018 40,312 159,731 2,537,832 20,408 26,179 44,163 2,828,625
Additions - - 10,821 2,163 - 58,069 71,053
Transfers - - 50,985 - - (50,985) -
Disposal / Write off - - (1,707) - - (248) (1,955)
31 December 2018 40,312 159,731 2,597,931 22,571 26,179 50,999 2,897,723
Additions - - 4,093 2,112 - 151,575 157,780
Transfers - 1,525 41,452 823 - (43,800) -
Disposal / Write off - - (3,981) - - (1,698) (5,679)
31 December 2019 40,312 161,256 2,639,495 25,506 26,179 157,076 3,049,824
Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2018 - 117,458 1,815,634 17,172 22,024 - 1,972,288
Depreciation for the year - 4,443 91,818 1,550 1,470 - 99,281
Depreciation for Disposal /

write off - - (1,707) - - - (1,707)
31 December 2018 - 121,901 1,905,745 18,722 23,494 - 2,069,862
Depreciation for the year - 3,834 90,870 1,853 1,469 - 98,026
Depreciation for disposal /

write off - - (3,906) - - - (3,906)
31 December 2019 - 125,735 1,992,709 20,575 24,963 - 2,163,982
Net book value :
As at 31 December 2018 40,312 37,830 692,186 3,849 2,685 50,999 827,861
As at 31 December 2019 40,312 35,521 646,786 4,931 1,216 157,076 885,842
Depreciation for the year
2018 (Baht 96 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses) 99,281

2019 (Baht 95 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses)




As at 31 December 2019, certain items of building, machinery and equipment items have been fully

depreciated but are still in use. The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated depreciationof those

assets amounted to approximately Baht1,125million (2018: Baht 1,105million).

The Company has mortgaged land with structures thereon and part of its machinery, with a total net

book value as at 31 December 2019amounting to approximately Baht 389million (2018: Baht 420million) to

secure short-term loans, long-term loans and credit facilities from financial institutions.

12. Intangible assets

The net book value of intangible assets as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

computer
Royalty fee software Total

As at 31 December 2019

Cost 7,735 5,114 12,849
Less: Accumulated amortisation (5,504) (3,984) (9,488)
Net book value 2,231 1,130 3,361
As at 31 December 2018

Cost 7,735 4,559 12,294
Less: Accumulated amortisation (4,730) (3,473) (8,203)
Net book value 3,005 1,086 4,091

A reconciliation of the net book value of intangible assets for the years 2019 and 2018 is presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Net book value at beginning of year 4,091 5,238
Acquisition of computer software 555 139
Amortisation (1,285) (1,286)
Net book value at end of year 3,361 4,091

13. Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions / accounts payable - trust

receipts
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
2019 2018
Bank overdrafts 3,244 22,744
Short-term loans from financial institutions 30,000 60,000
Total 33,244 82,744

Bank overdrafts carry interest at the rate of MOR or market rates per annum. Short-term loans from

financial institutions carry interest at 2.90 per annum. Accounts payable - trust receipts carry interest at the

rate of LIBOR / SIBOR plus a fixed rate or market rates per annum.



Credit facilities obtained from financial institutions are secured by the mortgage of the Company’s land
with structures thereon and part of its machinery, as discussed in Note 11 to the financial statements.

14. Trade and other payables
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Trade payables - related parties 130 306
Trade payables - unrelated parties 17,264 67,943
Other payables - related parties 722 3,485
Other payables - unrelated parties 8,008 4,340
Other payables for purchase of machineries 14,117 11,772
Accrued expenses 11,386 15,692
Total trade and other payables 51,627 103,538

15. Long-term loans
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Loan Interest rate (%) Repayment schedule 2019 2018

1 3M THBFIX +1.75% Monthly installments of Baht 1.5 million commencing - 1,700
from July 2013 within 68 months

2 3M THBFIX +1.75% Monthly installments of Baht 0.6 million commencing 2,950 9,790
from September 2014 within 72 months

3 3M THBFIX +1.75% Monthly installments of Baht 0.3 million commencing 1,990 5,230
from October 2014 within 72 months

4 MLR Monthly installments of Baht 0.7 million commencing 33,948 -
- 2.25% from February 2019 within 72 months

5 3M THBFIX +1.85% Monthly installments of Baht 2.1 million commencing 175,000 -
from July 2020 within 84 months

Total 213,888 16,720
Less: Current portion (25,880) (11,780)
Long-term loans, net of current portion 188,008 4,940

Long-term loans are secured by the mortgage of its part of its land and machineryas discussed in Note
11 to the financial statements.

The loan agreements mentioned above contain certain covenants as specified in the agreements that,
among other things, require the Company to maintain debt to equity, debt service coverage ratio, and interest
coverage ratio according to the specified ratio prescribed in the agreements. As at 31 December 2019, the
Company could not maintain debt service coverage ratio and interest coverage ratio as required in such loan
agreements. However,the Company has already received the waive letter for the covenants from the Bank,
hence; there is no reclassification of the outstanding balance of such long-term loansas at 31 December 2019.

16. Provision for long-term employee benefits
Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensation payable to employee after
they retire from the Company and other employee benefit plan, was as follows:



(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year 29,249 27,429
Included in profit or loss:
Current service cost 2,377 2,547
Interest cost 695 602
Past service cost 7,280 -
Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain (2,551) -
Benefits paid during the year (2,879) (1,329)
Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year 34,171 29,249

The Company expects to pay Baht 3 million of long-term employee benefits during the next year (2018:
Baht 6million).

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term employee benefit
is 4 years (2018: 5 years).
Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below:
2019 2018
(% per annum) (% per annum)

Discount rate 1.25 2.18
Salary increase rate 3.00 3.00
Turnover rate 0.00 - 58.00 0.00 - 57.00

The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptionsthat affect the present value of the long-term
employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are summarised below:

(Unit: Million Baht)

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1%
Discount rate (1) 1 (1) 1
Salary increase rate 1 (D 2 (2)
Turnover rate (1) 1 (1) 1

On 5 April 2019, The Labor Protection Act (No. 7) B.E. 2562 was announced in the Royal Gazette.
This stipulates additional legal severance pay rates for employees who have worked for an uninterrupted
period of twenty years or more, with such employees entitled to receive not less than 400 days’ compensation
at the latest wage rate. The law was effective from 5 May 2019. This change is considered a post-employment
benefits plan amendment and the Company has additional liabilities for long-term employee benefitsof Baht
7 million. The Companyrecorded the effect of the change by recognising past service costs as expenses in the
profit or loss of the second quarter of 2019.

17. Statutory reserve
Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set
aside to a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income after deducting accumulated deficit brought



forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered share capital. The statutory reserve is

not available for dividend distribution.At present, the statutory reserve has fully been set aside.

18. Expenses by nature
Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Salary and wages and other employee benefits 143,595 133,192
Depreciation 98,026 99,281
Amortisation expenses 6,074 3,227
Repairs and maintenance expenses 49,509 40,060
Electricity and fuel 132,319 149,807
Raw materials and consumables used 1,118,872 1,435,812
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in process 142,022 (118,692)

19. Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are made up as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Current income tax:
Current income tax charge - -
Deferred tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,015) 41)
Income tax revenue reported in profit or loss (1,015) (41)

The reconciliation between accounting profit andincome tax expenses (income) is shown below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Accounting profit (loss) before tax 149,883 27,552
Applicable tax rate 20% 20%
Accounting profit (loss) before tax multiplied by income tax rate (29,977) 5,510
Effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 366 329
Additional expense deductions allowed (128) 117)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax on tax loss - (5,689)
Tax losses unrecognised as deferred tax 28,945 -
Others (221) (74)
Total 28,962 (5,551)
Income tax revenue reported profit or loss (1,015) (41)




The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018
Deferred tax assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts 287 287
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 3,519 6,450
Deferred Income from government 543 450
Provision for long-term employee benefits 6,834 5,850
Derivative liabilities 744 84
Total 11,927 13,121
Deferred tax liabilities
Financial leases 10,291 11,989
Total 10,291 11,989
Deferred tax assets - net 1,636 1,132

As at 31 December 2019 the Company has unused tax losses totaling Baht 164 million (2018: Baht 21
million), on which deferred tax assets have notbeen recognisedas the Company believes that future taxable
profits may not be sufficient to allow utilisation of unused tax losses. The unused tax losses will expire by 2020
and 2024.

20. Promotional privileges

The Company has received promotional privileges from the Board of Investment for the manufacture of
aluminium sheet product and aluminium rolled product, pursuant to the investment promotion certificate
No. 61-0139-1-00-1-0 issued on 3 January 2019. Subject to certain imposed conditions, the privileges include
an exemption of import duty on imported machinery and raw materialsand an exemption of corporate income
tax from such promoted operations, totaling not over 100 percent of the investment amount, excluding the cost
of land and working capital, for a period of 3 years from the date the promoted operations commenced
generating revenues (not yet commenced operation).

21. Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) for the year attributable to eq-
uity holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number of or-
dinary shares in issue during the year.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic earnings (loss) per share:

2019 2018
Profit (loss) for the year (Thousand Baht) (148,868) 27,593
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (shares) 99,902,123 99,902,123

Profit (loss) per share (Baht per share) (1.49) 0.28




22. Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of
resources to the segment and assess its performance. The chief operating decision maker has been identified
as Chairman of the Board.

The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of semi-finished aluminium
products. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss, on a basis consistent with that
used to measure operating profit or loss and total assets in the financial statements. As a result, all of the
revenues, operating profits and assets as reflected in these financial statements pertain to the aforementioned

reportable operating segment.
Geographic information

Revenue from external customers is based on locations of the customers. (Unit : Million Baht)
2019 2018
Revenue from external customers
Thailand 1,008 1,320
Asia, 494 428
Oceania 67 48
Total 1,569 1,796

Major customers
For the year 2019, the Company has revenue derived from 1 major customer in amount of Baht 691
million (2018: revenue derived from 1 major customers in amount of Baht 1,013 million).

23. Commitments and contingent liabilities
23.1 Capital and purchase of raw material commitments
As at 31 December 2019, the Company had capital and purchase of raw material commitments
of approximatelyUSD 4.7 million, Baht 1.9 million and JPY 1.2million, relating to the purchases of
machinery, equipment, construction and raw material (2018:USD 3.4 million, JPY 1.9 million and

EUR 0.3 million).
23.2 Technical assistance commitments
On 27 December 2006, the Company entered into a 10-year technical assistance agreement
with Mitsubishi Aluminum Company Limited (a shareholder of the Company), whereby it is to receive
knowledge transfer in respect of production techniques for improvement of the efficiency and quality
of production, including the manufacture of new products. Subsequently, on 27 January 2018, the

Company entered into a new technical assistance agreement for a period of 5 years.

Under the agreement dated 27 January 2018, the Company is to pay remuneration as follows:

a. A fixed monthly royalty of Baht 0.5 million for the provision of twoengineers, excluding their
salaries and other benefits.

b. A running royalty of 1.0% - 6.0% of net sales of new fin stock for heat exchangers products
less costs of aluminum ingot and related procurement costs. This running royalty fee is paid
semiannually.

23.3 Guarantees

As at 31 December 2019, there were outstanding bank guarantees of approximately Baht 9.8



million issued by the banks on behalf of the Company to guarantee electricity use (2018: Baht 9.8
million) and outstanding bank guarantee of approximately Baht 19.4 million issued by the bank on

behalf of tax refund that received before the completion of tax examination (2018: None).
24. Dividend paid

Dividends Approved by Total dividends Dividend per share
(Thousand Baht) (Baht)

Final dividends for 2017 Annual General Meeting of the
shareholders on 27 April 2018 19,980 0.20

Final dividends for 2018 Annual General Meeting of the
shareholders on 26 April 2019 16,983 0.17

25. Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had the assets and liabilities that were measured at

fair value using different levels of inputs as follows:
(Unit: Million Baht)

2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives
Foreign currency forward contracts - 3.7 - 3.7
2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured at fair value
Derivatives
Foreign currency forward contracts - 0.4 - 0.4

26. Financial instruments
26.1 Financial risk management

The Company’s financial instruments, as defined under Thai Accounting Standard No. 107
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”, principally comprise cash and cash equivalents,
trade accounts receivable, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions, accounts
payable - trust receipts, trade and other payables andlong-term loans. The financial risks associated
with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.
Credit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable. The
Company manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures and
therefore does not expect to incur material financial losses. The maximum exposure to credit risk

is limited to the carrying amounts of receivables as stated in the statement of financial position.



Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash at banks, bank
overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions, accounts payable - trust receipts, and
long-termloans.

The details of cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial
institutions / accounts payable - trust receipts, and long-term loans are set out in Notes to the
financial statements No.7, 13, and 15, respectively.

Foreign currency risk

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk relates primarily to purchase of major raw
materials and sales of goods which are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company seeks to
reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate. Generally,
the forward contracts mature within one year.

The balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are summarised

below.
Foreign currency Financial assets Financial liabilities Average exchange rate
as at 31 December as at 31 December as at 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(Million) (Million) (Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
US dollar 5 1 16 18 30.1540 32.4256
Japanese yen - - - 4 - 0.2889

Foreign exchange contracts outstanding are summarised below.

As at Foreign Contractual

Bought amount Contractual exchange rate .
31 December currency maturity date

(Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
2019 US dollar 15 30.1700 - 30.6950 February 2020 - June 2020
2018 US dollar 1 33.1150 February 2019

26.2 Fair values of financial instruments
Since the majority of the Company’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or bear
floating interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be materially different from the amounts
presented in the statements of financial position.

The estimated fair value of the derivatives is as follows:
(Unit: Million Baht)

As at 31 December 2019 As at 31 December 2018

Fair value (Gain/(loss)) Fair value (Gain/(loss))

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives

Foreign currency forward contracts (3.7) 0.4)



The fair value of derivatives has been determined by using a discounted future cash flow
model and a valuation model technique. Most of the inputs used for the valuation are observable
in the relevant market, such as spot rates of foreign currencies, yield curves of the respective
currencies, interest rate yield curves and commodity price yield curves. The Company had
considered to counterparty credit risk when determining the fair value of derivatives.

During the current year, there were no transfers within the fair value hierarchy.

27. Capital management
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate capital
structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. As at 31 December 2019, the

Company’s debt-to-equity ratio was 0.88: 1 (2018: 0.75:1).

28. Approval of financial statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 28

February 2020.
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